
NORTHERN NEW MEXICO COLLEGE 
BOARD OF REGENTS  

OCTOBER 24, 2024 

Page 1 of 180



	 	
	

	

	
NOTICE	

	
The Board of Regents of Northern New Mexico College will hold a regular meeting 

on Thursday, October 24, 2024 at 9:00AM, Via Zoom and in person at Northern New 
Mexico College, Board Room, Española Campus, Española, New Mexico. 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://nnmc.zoom.us/j/93884181987 
Meeting ID: 938 8418 1987 
 

FINAL	AGENDA	
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
III. PUBLIC INPUT 
IV. COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD 

A. Board of Regents Subcommittee Reports  
1. Housing Committee – Informational 
2. Audit, Finance, Facilities Committee – Informational 
3. Academic and Student Affairs Committee – Informational 
4. Governance Committee - Approval of Updated Bylaws/Policies & 

Procedures - Action Required 
5. HERC Committee - Informational 
6. November/December Board  of Regents Meeting - Action Required 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
VI. PRESIDENT’S REPORT AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A. Celebrate Northern – Informational 
B. CUP/NMICC Report – Informational 
C. NNMC Foundation – Informational 
D. Introduction of Staff and Faculty – Informational 

VII. FACULTY SENATE PRESIDENT REPORT 
VIII.  STUDENT SENATE PRESIDENT REPORT 
IX. STAFF REPORTS  

A. Provost & Vice President  
       1. Faculty Handbook - Action Required 

           B.  Vice President for Finance & Administration 
        1. Approval of Easement Agreement between NNMC and North Central  

Regional Transit District for Blue Bus Stop on Española campus - Action 
Required 

Page 2 of 180

https://nnmc.zoom.us/j/93884181987


2	

	

2.  Fiscal Watch Report - Action Required 
3.  Budget Adjustment Requests - Informational 

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
(1) Limited personnel matters related to the hiring, promotion, demotion, 

dismissal, assignment, resignation, or investigation or consideration of 
complaints or charges against an employee; 

a. No items 
(2) Bargaining strategy preliminary to collective bargaining 

a. No items 
(3) Threatened or pending litigation subject to the attorney-client privilege in 

which the College may be a participant; and 
a. No items 

(4) Real estate acquisition or disposal. 
a. No items 

XI. VOTE TO REOPEN MEETING - Certification that only those matters 
described in the Executive Session Agenda were discussed in the closed session; 
if necessary, final action with regard to certain matters will be taken in Open 
Session 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), physically challenged 
individuals who require special accommodations should contact the President’s Office 
at 505-747-2140 at least one week prior to the meeting or as soon as possible. 

Page 3 of 180



MEMORANDUM

To: Board of Regents,
Northern NewMexico College

From: Board of Regents’ Governance Committee through Matt Baca,
General Counsel

Date: October 24, 2024

Re: Approval of Updated Bylaws/Policies & Procedures

Issue

The Board of Regents’ Governance Committee, working with General Counsel Matt
Baca, undertook the review and amendment of the Board’s Bylaws/Policies &
Procedures and made changes that it proposed to the Board of Regents at its
September 27, 2024 meeting. After the full Board’s review and discussion, the
Governance Committee has finalized the changes and they are ready for the Board’s
approval.

The major changes to this document include:
● Updating the documents to reflect the College’s renewed Mission and Vision

Statements, along with Strategic Pillars and Core Values
● Inclusion of a Conflict of Interest Policy and creation of annual process to

affirm each member’s freedom from any conflict in carrying out their duties
as a Regent

● Language formalizing current practices of the Board, such as: Creation of
Standing and Ad Hoc committees; seeking advisory counsel from the Faculty
Senate, Student Senate, Branch Board, Foundation, and Alumni; approval of
advisory group governing documents, where appropriate (i.e. Faculty Senate
charter, Student Senate charter, etc.)

● Other non-substantive/formatting changes

In addition to the substantive changes proposed, there is a separate, procedural
issue for the Board’s consideration. The Board of Regents has published two
separate documents, one titled “Bylaws” and the other titled “Board of Regents
Policies & Procedures.” Despite existing separately, the information in the “Bylaws”

Page 4 of 180



document is largely, if not entirely the same substantive information that exists in
the “Policies & Procedures” document. Rather than update both documents, the
Board may consider consolidating themmoving forward.

For the Board’s review and consideration, the proposed amended document is
attached, and the “Bylaws” document, proposed to be sunsetted, is attached as
“Exhibit A.”

Recommendation

The Governance Committee, through General Counsel Matt Baca, recommends the
full Board of Regents vote to approve the amended Bylaws/Policies & Procedures
and consolidate the existing “Bylaws” and “Policies & Procedures” documents into a
single document.

2

Page 5 of 180



 

Page	1	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

Board	of	Regents	Bylaws/Policies	&	Procedures	Manual	
	
Purpose:	 	To	provide	an	overview	of	 the	policies	and	procedures	by	which	 the	Board	of	
Regents	will	perform	their	duties.		
	
Policy:		It	is	the	policy	of	the	Board	of	Regents	that	their	performance	of	their	duties	shall	
adhere	to	the	highest	of	standards	set	forth	in	this	document.		
	
Institutional	History:		
	
The	 Spanish	 American	 Normal	 School	 was	 founded	 in	 1909	 with	 a	 primary	 function	 of	
training	 teachers	 for	 the	 State’s	 Spanish	 speaking	 population.	 As	 a	 state	 educational	
institution,	it	was	created	under	Section	2141	of	state	law	and	Article	12	Section	13	of	the	
New	Mexico	Constitution.	As	such,	 it	 is	governed	by	a	Board	of	Regents	consisting	of	 five	
regents.	This	institution	and	its	differing	missions	and	name	changes	throughout	the	years	
have	always	played	an	integral	role	in	the	State	of	New	Mexico’s	goal	to	provide	educational	
opportunities	for	its	residents.		
	
Early	1930’s	to	1950’s	–	Emphasis	was	placed	on	four	academic	interrelationship	divisions:	
Elementary	Division,	High	School	Division,	Vocational	Division	and	the	College	Division.	
	
1953	–	The	State	Legislature	changed	the	name	of	the	institution	to	Northern	New	Mexico	
State	 School	 and	 mandated	 that	 the	 institution	 provide	 training	 not	 available	 in	 public	
schools	and	implement	a	secondary	school	curriculum.		
	
1959	–	The	Board	of	Regents	adopted	the	name	of	Northern	New	Mexico	College.	Under	this	
designation	the	College	continued	to	maintain	secondary	educational	functions	(grades	7-
12)	as	well	as	a	college	curriculum.	By	1961	the	school	was	offering	two-year	programs	in	
business	education,	general	studies,	and	selected	vocational	programs.		
	
1969	–	The	high	school	curriculum	was	transferred	to	a	newly	created	pubic	school	district	
and	the	curriculum	at	the	College	was	limited	to	technical	vocational	course	offerings.	
	
1970	–	The	Board	of	Regents	adopted	a	new	name	to	indicate	the	change	in	course	offerings.	
Thus,	the	New	Mexico	Technical	Vocational	School	became	the	common	designation.		
	
1977	 –	 The	 Board	 of	 Regents	 accepted	 a	 new	 mission	 of	 the	 institution	 and	 began	 the	
enormous	task	of	combining	the	existing	programs,	philosophies	and	procedures	to	establish	
a	comprehensive	community	college.	In	order	to	reflect	the	new	mission,	the	name	of	the	
school	was	changed	to	Northern	New	Mexico	Community	College.		
	
2004	–	Legislative	approval	and	accreditation	was	extended	to	Northern,	permitting	it	to	be	
the	first	community	college	in	the	state	of	New	Mexico	to	offer	a	four-year	degree,	a	BA	in	
Elementary	Education.	

Page 6 of 180



 

Page	2	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

	
2005	–	Legislation	was	 enacted	which	 changed	 the	name	of	 the	 school	 to	Northern	New	
Mexico	College	(hereafter	“Northern”)	and	removed	the	two-year	limit	on	accredited	college	
level	academic	instruction	to	restore	its	original	constitutional	mission	permitting	it	to	offer	
four-year	degrees	in	any	program	deemed	necessary	and	appropriate.		
	
Accreditation		
	
Northern	is	accredited	through	the	Higher	Learning	Commission	(HLC).	HLC	accreditation	
provides	 assurance	 to	 the	 public	 that	 an	 institution	 has	 been	 found	 to	 meet	 stated	
requirements	 and	 criteria.	 The	 accreditation	 process	 provides	 public	 certification	 of	
acceptable	 institutional	 quality	 and	 an	 opportunity	 for	 critical	 self-analysis,	 quality	
improvement,	 evaluation,	 and	 consultation	 from	 other	 higher	 education	 professionals.	
Regional	accreditation	is	required	for	institutions	to	receive	Title	IV	funding	(financial	aid	
for	 students)	 and	 to	 ensure	 that	 our	 coursework	 and	 degrees	 are	 accepted	 by	 other	
institutions	of	higher	learning	and	employers.	In	addition	to	regional	accreditation	from	HLC,	
Northern	 has	 various	 individual	 educational	 offerings,	 from	 Nursing	 and	 Engineering	 to	
others,	that	are	accredited	or	approved	by	other	agencies.	
	
Mission	
	
Northern	 New	 Mexico	 College	 is	 an	 inclusive,	 student-centered	 teaching	 and	 learning	
community,	dedicated	to	excellence,	empowering	students,	and	transforming	lives.	
	
Vision	
	
As	a	Hispanic-	and	Indigenous-serving	institution,	sustained	by	place,	culture,	and	
innovation	—	Northern	is	a	beacon	of	higher	education	for	all	students,	igniting	minds	to	
create	vibrant	futures.	
	
Core	Values	
	

• Student-Centered:	We	honor	every	student	as	a	unique	individual	and	prioritize	
student	needs	in	all	decision	making.	

• Mutual	Respect:	We	respect	the	differences	of	all	peoples;	diversity,	equity,	
inclusion,	and	belonging	are	our	strengths.	

• Integrity:	We	value	honesty,	trust,	and	transparency.	
• Excellence:	We	commit	to	continuous	improvement	and	strive	to	excel	in	all	that	

we	do.	
• Servant	Leadership:	We	prioritize	the	growth,	well-being,	and	empowerment	of	

students,	faculty,	and	staff,	and	are	good	stewards	of	resources	entrusted	to	our	
care.	

	
	

Page 7 of 180



 

Page	3	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

	
Strategic	Pillars	
	

• Transformational	 Student	 Experience:	We	 journey	 together	 with	 our	 students	
through	a	positive	proactive,	personalized	experience	and	become	partners	in	their	
dreams.	

• Academic	 Excellence:	We	 teach	 with	 spirit	 and	 heart	 to	 provide	 a	 culturally	
responsive,	 21st-century	 learning	 environment	 that	 sparks	 critical	 thinking	 and	
maximizes	intellectual	achievement.	

• Organizational	 Excellence:	We	 act	 with	 shared	 purpose	 and	 responsibility	 –	
focused	on	innovation	and	continuous	improvement	–	committed	to	student	success	
and	empathetic,	engaged	leadership	and	expertise.	

• Strategic	 Partnerships:	We	 build	 partnerships	 that	 enhance	 student	 and	
institutional	success	and	community	well-being.	

		
Northern	 is	on	a	 five-year	cycle	 for	conducting	 its	comprehensive	strategic	plan	at	which	
time	the	mission	and	vision	statements	are	reviewed	and	updated	if	necessary.	The	College	
annually	 reviews	 the	 fidelity	 of	 its	 practices	with	 respect	 to	 the	 guiding	 principles	 in	 its	
annual	survey	of	students,	faculty,	and	staff.		
	
Institutional	Governance		
	
Board	of	Regents	
	
Source	of	Authority	–	The	control	and	management	of	Northern	 is	vested	 in	the	Board	of	
Regents,	pursuant	to	N.M.	Const.	Art.	XII,	§13	and	NMSA	1978,	Section	21-4-1.		
	
Governance	Structure	–	The	Board	of	Regents	controls	and	manages	Northern	through	direct	
exercise	 of	 its	 authority	 and	 through	 the	 delegation	 of	 authority	 to	 the	 President.	NMSA	
1978,	Section	21-1-10.	
	
Membership	of	the	Board	–	The	Board	of	Regents’	consists	of	five	members	nominated	by	
the	Governor	and	appointed	by	and	with	consent	of	the	Senate.	New	Mexico	Constitution,	
Art.	XII,	Sec.	13.	When	a	new	member	is	appointed	to	the	Board,	the	member	may	choose	to	
receive	 hard	 copies	 of	 the	Faculty	 Handbook	 and	 the	Regents'	 Policy	Manual,	 or	 elect	 to	
access	the	materials	online.	New	members	also	will	receive	a	compilation	of	current	New	
Mexico	statutes	pertaining	to	the	Regents.	The	President	and	Chair	of	the	Board	of	Regents	
will	arrange	briefing	sessions	for	newly	appointed	Regents,	as	deemed	necessary.	
	
Qualifications	–	All	members	must	be	qualified	electors	of	the	State	of	New	Mexico,	one	of	
whom	shall	 be	 a	member	of	 the	 student	body	of	 the	 institution,	 and	no	more	 than	 three	
members	shall	be	of	the	same	political	party.	New	Mexico	Constitution,	Art.	XII,	Sec.	13.	
	

Page 8 of 180



 

Page	4	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

Term	of	Board	Members	–	Members	of	the	Board	are	appointed	for	a	term	of	six	(6)	years,	
with	the	terms	of	student	members	being	two	years,	and	hold	office	until	a	successor	has	
been	duly	qualified.	An	appointee	named	to	fill	a	vacancy	while	the	Senate	is	not	in	session	
may	retain	membership	until	the	next	session	of	the	Senate	when	the	Governor	shall	appoint	
by	and	with	the	advice	and	consent	of	the	Senate	some	qualified	person	to	fill	the	unexpired	
term.	New	Mexico	Constitution,	Art.	XII,	Sec.	13.	
	
Removal	 of	 Board	 Members	 –	 Members	 of	 the	 Board	 may	 not	 be	 removed	 except	 for	
incompetence,	neglect	of	duty	or	malfeasance	in	office.		No	removal	shall	be	made	without	
notice	of	hearing	and	an	opportunity	for	the	member	to	be	heard.		The	Supreme	Court	of	the	
State	of	New	Mexico	has	exclusive	original	jurisdiction	over	removal	of	members	under	rules	
it	 may	 promulgate.	 	 The	 decision	 of	 the	 State	 Supreme	 Court	 is	 final.	 New	 Mexico	
Constitution,	Art.	XII,	Sec.	13.	
	
Legal	Authority	–	The	Board	of	Regents	is	a	legal	entity	created	by	Constitution	and	statute	
and	 has	 the	 legal	 authority	 of	 a	 body	 politic	 and	 corporate.	 As	 such,	 the	 Board	 has	 the	
authority,	within	the	limits	of	New	Mexico	law,	to:	sue	and	be	sued;	contract;	hold	title	to	
property,	 buy	 sell,	 lease	 or	 otherwise	 dispose	 of	 property;	 receive	 donations,	 grants,	
appropriations,	 bequests	 from	 governments,	 corporations	 or	 from	 individuals;	 employ	
necessary	staff	and	faculty	to	carry	out	its	mission;	delegate	authority	to	its	administration;	
and	take	such	actions	as	it	deems	necessary	to	fulfill	its	responsibility	for	the	management	
and	control	of	the	institution.		
	
Role	and	Function	–	The	Constitution	and	organic	legislation	vest	the	complete	authority	and	
responsibility	 for	 the	 control	 and	 management	 of	 Northern	 in	 the	 Board	 of	 Regents.	
Recognizing	that	the	Board	of	Regents	is	made	up	of	lay	members	who	cannot	devote	fulltime	
to	 the	management	of	Northern,	 the	Board	has	determined	 that	 it	will	 serve	as	 a	policy-
making	body	and	will	delegate	to	its	President	the	responsibility	for	the	administration	of	
the	institution.	Recognizing	that	it	retains	the	complete	responsibility	for	the	operation	of	
Northern,	and	recognizing	that	circumstances	may	require	that	the	Board	reassert	authority	
which	it	has	delegated	to	the	administration,	the	Board	generally	defines	its	role	as	follows:		
	

1. To	assume	legal	responsibility	and	authority	for	all	aspects	of	the	institution;		
2. To	represent	the	residents	of	the	State	in	establishing	institutional	policies,	facilities,	

and	 programs.	 All	 policies	 of	 the	 institution,	 including	 Board,	 Staff	 and	 Faculty	
Policies	and	Procedures	and	the	Faculty	Constitution,	shall	be	approved	by	the	Board	
before	they	become	effective;		

3. To	assist	in	obtaining	adequate	financial	support;	
4. To	approve	general	operating	policies	of	the	institution;		
5. To	select	a	chief	administrative	officer	(President)	of	the	institution	and	delegate	the	

responsibility	 for	 the	 administration	of	 the	 institution	 to	 the	President,	 consistent	
with	its	policies,	recognizing	that	it	retains	all	authority	not	specifically	delegated	and	
that	authority	which,	by	law,	may	not	be	delegated;	

6. To	act	on	recommendations	presented	by	its	President;		

Page 9 of 180



 

Page	5	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

7. To	assure	compliance	with	law;		
8. To	grant	degrees;	
9. Establish,	and	periodically	review,	the	mission,	goals,	objectives	of	the	College,	and	a	

long-range	campus	master	plan	for	the	physical	development	of	the	College;	create	
colleges,	schools,	and	branches;	

10. Approve	the	constitution	or	other	governing	document	of	faculty,	staff,	and	student	
governing	 bodies	 and	 component	 or	 affiliated	 organizations,	 as	 determined	 to	 be	
appropriate	by	the	President	and	the	Board;	and	

11. Enter	into,	and	review	biennially,	operating	agreements	with	the	Board	of	Advisors	
of	the	branch	community	college,	the	Northern	New	Mexico	College	Foundation,	and	
any	other	affiliated	entity,	as	determined	to	be	appropriate	by	the	President	and	the	
Board.	
	

Regular	Meetings	of	the	Board	–	The	Board	shall	hold	all	meetings	after	giving	such	notice	as	
is	required	by	the	Open	Meetings	Act.		A	minimum	of	four	meetings	per	year	will	be	held.		
	
Special	Meetings	–	The	Chairperson	may	call	a	special	or	emergency	meeting	of	the	Board	as	
needed,	or	upon	written	request	by	three	of	the	members.		
	
Notice	of	Meetings	–	The	President	shall	send	a	notice	at	least	ten	days	in	advance	of	any	
regular	 meeting	 of	 the	 Board	 indicating	 the	 tentative	 agenda,	 time	 and	 location	 of	 the	
meeting.	Notice	for	special	meetings	called	by	the	Chairperson	shall	be	given	three	days	prior	
to	 the	 special	 meeting.	 Notice	 of	 at	 least	 twenty-four	 hours	 shall	 be	 given	 prior	 to	 an	
emergency	meeting.	Notices	of	meetings	shall	be	disseminated	to	all	board	members,	and	
shall	be	disseminated	to	the	public,	pursuant	to	an	Open	Meetings	Resolution,	to	be	adopted	
at	least	annually	by	the	Board.		
	
Quorum	–	Three	members	of	the	Board	shall	constitute	a	quorum.		
	
Order	of	Business	–	The	order	of	business	shall	be:	 (1)	Call	 to	order;	 (2)	Approval	of	 the	
Agenda;	 (3)	 Public	 Input;	 (4)	 Comments	 from	 the	 Board;	 (5)	 Approval	 of	 minutes	 from	
previous	meeting(s);	(6)	President’s	Reports	and	Announcements;	(7)	Advisory	Reports;	(8)	
Staff	Reports;	(9)	Executive	Session	(if	any);	(10)	Adjournment.		
	
Open	Meetings	–	All	meetings	of	the	Board	shall	be	open	to	the	public,	except	for	executive	
sessions,	which	shall	be	held	only	in	conformance	with	the	Open	Meetings	Act.		
	
Conduct	of	Meeting	–	The	Board	shall	establish	Rules	of	Procedure	and	all	meetings	of	the	
Board	shall	be	conducted	in	a	manner	consistent	with	those	Rules.	The	Rules	of	Procedure	
shall	constitute	Section	III	of	the	Policies	and	Procedures	of	the	Board	of	Regents,	but	being	
for	 the	 convenience	 of	 the	 Board,	 may	 be	 suspended	 by	 an	 affirmative	 vote	 of	 3	 Board	
members.		
	

Page 10 of 180



 

Page	6	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

Minutes	–	Draft	minutes	shall	be	available	for	public	inspection	within	ten	working	days	after	
a	Board	meeting.	All	actions	of	the	Board	shall	be	recorded	in	the	minutes	which	shall	be	kept	
on	file	in	the	office	of	the	President.	Minutes	shall	be	open	for	public	inspection	upon	request.	
Every	vote	shall	be	recorded	in	the	minutes	of	the	meeting	in	such	a	manner	that	the	record	
reflects	how	each	Regent	voted.		
	
Per	Diem	and	Travel	Reimbursement	–	Members	of	the	Board	shall	be	allowed	mileage	and	
per	diem	for	attendance	at	Board	meetings	and	other	official	travel.	Reimbursement	will	be	
made	in	accordance	with	the	policy	and	procedures	relating	to	reimbursement	of	per	diem	
and	 mileage	 expenses	 of	 members	 of	 the	 Board	 of	 Regents.	 Each	 member	 shall	 submit	
vouchers	for	all	Board	travel	and	per	diem	reimbursement.		
	
Regent	Code	of	Conduct	and	Conflicts	of	Interest	
	
Members	of	the	Board	of	Regents	("Regents")	are	expected	to	perform	their	duties	faithfully	
and	efficiently	and	never	to	give	rise	to	suspicion	of	improper	conflict	with	interests	of	the	
College.	Regents	shall	not	accept	favors	or	gratuities	of	significant	economic	value	from	any	
firm,	 person,	 or	 corporation	 that	 is	 engaged	 in,	 or	 attempting	 to	 engage	 in,	 business	
transactions	with	the	College.	They	must	avoid	any	conflict	of	interest	that	may	affect	their	
independent	judgment	in	the	impartial	performance	of	their	duties.	They	may	not	use	their	
positions	to	enhance	their	direct	or	indirect	financial	interest	or	use	confidential	information	
learned	as	a	Regent	 for	anyone's	private	gain.	Regents	shall	 comply	with	state	conflict	of	
interest	laws	as	well	as	College	policies.	Members	of	the	Board	of	Regents	will	have	120	days	
from	the	date	the	Board	of	Regents	approves	the	"Regent	Code	of	Conduct	and	Conflicts	of	
Interest"	policy	 ("Code")	 to	 fully	comply	with	 the	Code.	Each	Regent	will	annually	certify	
compliance	with	the	Code	on	a	form	approved	by	the	Regents.	Each	annual	certification	shall	
be	filed	by	the	Regents	with	the	General	Counsel	who	shall	furnish	a	copy	to	the	Executive	
Vice	 President	 for	 Finance	 and	 Administration.	Members	 of	 the	 Board	 of	 Regents	 are	
required	 by	 the	 Financial	 Disclosure	 Act,	 NMSA	 1978,	 Section	 10-16A-1,	et	 seq.,	 to	 file	 a	
report	with	the	New	Mexico	Secretary	of	State	concerning	the	Regent's	financial	interests.	A	
copy	of	 such	 report	 shall	 also	be	 filed	by	 the	Regent	with	 the	General	Counsel	who	shall	
furnish	a	copy	to	the	Executive	Vice	President	for	Finance	and	Administration	and	distribute	
a	copy	to	each	member	of	the	Board	of	Regents.		
	
Officers	of	the	Board	
	
Officers	and	Election	of	Officers	–	The	Board	shall	elect	a	Chairperson,	Vice	Chairperson	and	
a	Secretary/Treasurer.	Election	of	officers	shall	be	at	the	beginning	of	the	calendar	year	of	
every	odd	numbered	year	and	no	later	than	April	30	of	that	year.	The	Board	of	Regents	may	
reorganize	when	any	new	appointment	is	made	and	a	new	member	is	sworn	in.	
		
Eligibility	–	Any	member	shall	be	eligible	to	any	office	of	the	Board	provided	the	term	of	the	
member	will	not	expire	prior	to	the	term	of	office	to	which	he	or	she	is	elected.	
		

Page 11 of 180



 

Page	7	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

Tenure	and	vacancy	–	Officers	of	the	Board	shall	be	chosen	for	two-year	terms.	They	shall	
hold	office	until	 their	 successors	are	elected	and	qualified.	A	vacancy	 in	any	office	of	 the	
Board	shall	be	filled	at	 the	next	meeting	of	 the	Board,	 for	the	remainder	of	 the	term.	The	
procedure	of	filling	a	vacancy	is	the	same	as	in	the	original	election.	
		

1. Duties	of	Officers.		
Chairperson.	The	Chairperson	shall:		
(a)		set	the	time	and	place	for	meetings	of	the	Board	and	shall	direct	the	President	to	
issue	the	notices	for	meetings	of	the	Board;		
(b)		preside	at	all	meetings	of	the	Board	at	which	he	or	she	is	in	attendance;		
(c)		sign	all	documents	executed	by	authority	of	the	Board;		
(d)		sign	all	minutes	of	the	board	meetings	after	such	minutes	have	been	approved	at	
subsequent	meetings	of	the	Board;		
(e)		appoint	committees	of	the	Board;		
(f)		sign	any	warrants	ordered	by	the	Board	of	Regents	to	be	drawn	upon	the	treasurer	
from	institutional	monies;	and		
(g)		perform	such	other	duties	which	may	be	determined	by	the		
Board.		

2. Duties	of	the	Vice	Chairperson.	The	Vice	Chairperson	shall	perform	the	duties	of	the	
Chairperson	in	his	or	her	absence	or	inability	to	perform.		

3. Duties	of	the	Secretary/Treasurer.	The	Secretary/Treasurer	shall:		
(a)		keep	or	cause	to	be	kept	minutes	of	meetings	of	the	Board	which	will	include	a	
permanent	record	of	all	votes	and	actions	of	the	Board;		
(b)		countersign	all	warrants	drawn	upon	the	treasury	and	shall	cause	to	be	prepared	
monthly	and	annual	reports	of	fiscal	matters;		
(c)		maintain	a	record	of	all	members	of	the	Board,	home	and/or	business	addresses,	
dates	of	their	appointments,	and	dates	of	expiration	of	their	terms	of	office;		
(d)		cause	to	be	maintained	a	record	of	membership	of	all	committees	and	reports	of	
all	such	committees;	and		
(e)		In	the	event	of	the	absence	of	the	Chairperson	and	Vice	Chairperson,	perform	the	
duties	of	the	Chairperson.		

	
Committees	of	the	Board		
	
Establishment	of	Committees	–	Committees	may	be	constituted	as	the	Board	may	authorize.	
In	case	the	Chairperson	appoints	a	committee	without	specific	authorization	of	the	Board,	
he	 or	 she	 shall	 report	 at	 the	 next	 meeting	 of	 the	 Board	 the	 name	 of	 the	 committee,	 its	
personnel,	and	the	function	it	is	to	perform	and	such	action	must	be	ratified	by	the	Board.	
Each	committee	shall	continue	to	exist	until	it	is	discharged	by	action	of	the	Board.		
	
Appointment	of	Committees	–	The	Chairperson	of	the	Board	shall	appoint	the	members	of	
every	committee.	Members	of	the	Board,	students,	and	institutional	employees	are	eligible	
for	appointment	to	any	of	the	committees.		
	

Page 12 of 180



 

Page	8	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

Powers	and	Duties	of	Committees	–	Each	committee,	when	constituted,	shall	have	assigned	
a	specific	function	duly	recorded	in	the	minutes	of	the	Board.	No	committee	shall	have	the	
power	to	make	any	final	commitments	or	decisions	on	actions	or	policies	of	the	Board,	except	
on	matters	in	which	powers	to	act	have	been	specifically	delegated	to	the	committee	by	the	
Board.		
	
Officers	of	the	Committee	–	The	Chairperson	of	the	Board,	in	appointing	the	members	of	a	
committee,	shall	designate	a	member	as	its	chairperson.	The	Chairperson	of	the	committee	
shall	 be	 responsible	 for	 calling	meetings	 of	 the	 committee,	 see	 that	matters	 are	 handled	
properly,	and	report	activities	of	the	committee	at	subsequent	meetings	of	the	Board.		
	
Consultants	to	Committees	–	A	committee	may	utilize	services	of	consultants.	However,	such	
consultants	shall	not	be	paid	for	services	unless	authorized	by	the	Board.	Consultants	to	the	
committee	do	not	have	a	vote	on	actions	taken	by	the	committee.		
	
Standing	Committees	-	In	order	to	facilitate	the	work	of	the	Board	of	Regents,	the	Chair	of	
the	Board	of	Regents	 appoints	members	 to	 standing	 committees	 each	 year	 and	 appoints	
chairs	and	vice-chairs	of	each	committee.	The	Chair	of	the	Board	of	Regents	may	become	a	
self-appointed	member	of	any	standing	committee.	The	Chair	of	the	Board	of	Regents	shall	
consult	 with	 the	 Board	 of	 Regents	 concerning	 such	 appointments	 to	 committees.		The	
standing	committees	of	the	Board	of	Regents	are:	Audit,	Finance	and	Facilities;	Academic	and	
Student	Affairs,	Governance,	Housing,	and	Higher	Education	Regents	Coalition	(HERC).	The	
Chair	of	the	Board	of	Regents	may	name	other	standing	committees	with	the	consent	of	the	
Board	of	Regents.	
	
Ad	 Hoc	 Committees	 -	 From	 time	 to	 time	 the	 Chair	 of	 the	 Board	 may	 appoint	 ad	 hoc	
committees	 consisting	 of	 Regent	 members	 to	 gather	 information	 and	 make	
recommendations	 to	 the	Board	of	Regents	 about	 specified	matters.	 Public	 notice	 of	 such	
meetings	 will	 be	 given	 and	 public	 attendance	 and	 participation	 permitted	 as	 deemed	
appropriate	by	the	committee	chair.	
	
The	President		
	
Creation	of	the	Office	–	The	Office	of	President	of	Northern	New	Mexico	College	is	hereby	
established.	
	
Appointment	and	Tenure	–	The	President	shall	be	appointed	by	the	Board	pursuant	to	the	
requirements	of	Section	21-1-16.1,	and	the	President	shall	act	as	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	
of	the	institution.	The	Board	shall	establish	the	qualifications	of	the	President,	fix	his	or	her	
salary,	establish	the	conditions	of	employment	and	tenure	of	employment.	The	terms	and	
conditions	 of	 the	 President’s	 employment	 shall	 be	 defined	 by	 the	 provisions	 of	 the	
President's	contract,	which	shall	include	the	discharge	procedures	required	by	21-1-7.		
	

Page 13 of 180



 

Page	9	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

Delegation	of	Authority	–	The	Board	hereby	delegates	to	the	President	the	responsibility	and	
authority	to	operate	and	manage	the	institution,	pursuant	to	and	consistent	with	the	policies	
of	 the	 Board	 and	with	 law	 and	with	 the	 recognition	 that	 the	 Board	 retains	 the	 ultimate	
responsibility	for	all	institutional	activities.		
	
Accountability	–	The	President,	as	chief	executive	officer,	is	accountable	to	the	Board	acting	
as	 a	 body	 on	 all	 matters	 regarding	 his	 duties	 and	 responsibilities	 to	 the	 College.	 Only	
decisions	of	the	Board	acting	as	a	body	are	binding	upon	the	President	except	in	instances	
when	the	Board,	acting	as	a	body,	delegates	appropriate	functions	to	the	Board	Chair	or	a	
committee	of	the	Board.		
	
Performance	Review	–	In	order	to	insure	ongoing	communication	between	the	President	and	
the	Board	concerning	the	President’s	objectives	and	job	responsibilities	as	well	as	to	achieve	
a	 mutual	 understanding	 between	 the	 parties	 concerning	 the	 accomplishments	 of	 such	
objectives	and	responsibilities,	 there	shall	be	an	annual	written	review	of	 the	President’s	
performance,	which	 shall	 include	meeting	with	 the	 President	 and	 the	Board	 for	 the	 sole	
purpose	of	reviewing	such	objectives	and	responsibilities.	Such	annual	reviews	may	include	
prioritizing	job	objectives	and	establishing	time	tables	and	resources	for	completion	of	such	
objectives.	 The	 Board	 shall,	 with	 input	 from	 the	 President,	 establish	 a	 schedule	 and	
evaluation	instrument	for	the	review	of	the	President	and	shall	allow	the	President	sufficient	
time	 to	 prepare	 an	 outline	 of	 accomplishments	 and	 progress	made	 toward	 attaining	 the	
performance	objectives	and	satisfying	the	duties	and	responsibilities	of	the	position.	

	
Duties	and	Responsibilities	–	The	duties	and	responsibilities	of	the	President,	pursuant	to	
the	Board’s	delegation	of	authority,	shall	include,	but	not	be	limited	to:		

a. Provide	the	Board	with	appropriate	information,	in	a	timely	manner,	in	order	
that	the	Board	may	promulgate	policy;	

b. 		Responsible	for	executing	policies	and	implementing	identified	goals	through	
the	day-to-day	management	of	the	College;		

c. Agrees	to	be	responsive	to	changing	goals	and	directives	of	the	Board,	and	the	
Board	and	its	individual	members	agree	not	to	interfere	with	or	to	usurp	the	
responsibilities	of	the	President;		

d. Provide	and	be	accountable	for	leadership	of	academic	excellence;		
e. Competently	administer	the	instruction,	student	services,	and	business	affairs	

of	the	College;	
f. Periodically	direct	the	review	of	Board	policies;		
g. Promote	and	endeavor	to	maintain	a	positive	college	image	in	the	community;		
h. Establish	and	maintain	sound	working	relationships	with	other	governmental	

agencies;	
i. Endeavor	to	maintain	and	improve	professional	competence;	
j. Serve	 as	 the	 Board’s	 designated	 representative	with	 respect	 to	 all	matters	

concerning	employer/employee	matters;	

Page 14 of 180



 

Page	10	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

k. Annually	 evaluate	 administrative	 employees	 reporting	 directly	 to	 the	
President	 and	 participate	 in	 the	 evaluation	 of	 the	 remaining	 employees	 in	
accordance	with	college	procedures;		

l. Manage	and	control	college	property	and	enter	into	contracts	on	behalf	of	the	
College;	

m. Cooperatively	participate	in	planning	long	term	goals	for	the	College	and	serve	
as	the	Board’s	administrative	arm	in	carrying	out	those	goals.		

	
Advisors	to	the	Board	of	Regents	
	
The	Board	of	Regents	is	committed	to	open	communication	with	various	constituencies	on	
campus	and	values	their	advice	on	matters	of	policy	and	other	actions	affecting	the	College.	
The	position	of	Advisor	to	the	Board	of	Regents	is	one	method	of	assuring	appropriate	and	
adequate	 communication.	 Advisors	 are	 not	 intended	 to	 substitute	 for	 other	 forms	 of	
communication	and	access	to	the	Regents,	but	rather	to	facilitate	and	focus	the	expression	of	
points	of	view	to	the	Board	of	Regents.	
	
Advisors	to	the	Board	of	Regents	shall	include	the	following:	
	

• President	of	the	Faculty	Senate	
• President	of	the	Student	Senate	
• President	of	the	Alumni	Association	
• Chair	of	the	Foundation	

	
These	 bodies	 represent	 the	major	 campus	 constituencies.	 The	 advisors	 shall	 serve	 in	 an	
advisory,	nonvoting	capacity	for	the	term	of	office	to	which	each	was	elected.	No	provision	
will	be	made	for	a	substitute	to	serve	in	the	absence	of	an	advisor.	
	
Procedures	for	Conduct	of	Meetings	of	Board	of	Regents:		
	
The	following	procedural	guidelines	are	adopted	by	the	Board	of	Regents	of	Northern	New	
Mexico	College	to	provide	assistance	to	the	Board	in	conducting	its	Regents	meetings	and	to	
assure	the	orderly	conduct	of	business	at	such	meetings.		
	
Relationship	to	Robert's	Rules	of	Order	Revised:		
	
These	procedural	guidelines	are	a	modified	version	of	Robert's	Rules	of	Order	(RRO).	To	the	
extent	 issues	are	not	covered	within	these	procedural	guidelines,	Robert's	Rules	of	Order	
(Revised)	may	serve	as	a	reference	or	a	guideline	to	the	procedure	to	be	followed.	However,	
the	 failure	 of	 the	 Board	 of	 Regents	 to	 strictly	 follow	 either	 the	 procedural	 guidelines	
contained	herein	or	Robert's	Rules	of	Order	 (Revised)	 shall	not	 affect	 the	validity	of	 any	
action	taken	by	the	Board	of	Regents	which	is	otherwise	consistent	with	law,	nor	shall	these	
rules	confer	any	substantive	rights	upon	any	person	or	organization	affected	by	action	of	the	
Board.		

Page 15 of 180



 

Page	11	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

	
Board	Meeting	Agenda:		
	

1. The	Board	Chairperson,	in	cooperation	with	the	President,	shall	prepare	the	tentative	
agenda	 for	 each	 meeting.	 The	 tentative	 agenda	 shall	 be	 prepared	 sufficiently	 in	
advance	of	a	Board	meeting	so	that	the	tentative	agenda	may	be	published	with	the	
Notice	of	Meeting,	published	pursuant	to	the	Board's	Open	Meetings	Resolution.		

2. Any	board	member	may,	by	a	timely	request,	have	an	item	placed	on	the	tentative	
agenda.		

3. It	shall	be	the	practice	of	the	Board	for	each	board	member	to	receive	a	copy	of	the	
tentative	agenda,	and	for	the	tentative	agenda	to	be	available	for	public	 inspection	
and/or	distribution	when	it	is	distributed	to	the	Board	members.		

4. At	 the	meeting,	 the	 Board	may,	 by	majority	 vote,	 delete	 items	 from	 the	 tentative	
agenda,	in	order	to	arrive	at	the	final	agenda.		

5. An	individual	or	group	desiring	to	address	the	Board	shall	ask	the	President	to	place	
his/her/its	name	on	 the	 tentative	agenda.	However,	 the	Board	 shall	determine,	 in	
approving	the	final	agenda,	whether	it	will	hear	the	individual	or	group.	The	Board	
may	require	that	the	matter	to	be	discussed	be	described	and/or	that	written	material	
be	provided	in	advance	of	the	meeting.	The	Board	may	limit	the	time	of	public	input	
and	may	declare	persons	out	of	order	whose	actions	are	disruptive	or	do	not	conform	
to	the	limits	set	by	the	Board	for	such	input.		

	
Presiding	Officer:	
	
1. The	Chairperson	or	his	or	her	successor	shall	preside	at	Board	meetings.	To	address	

the	Board,	a	member	must	be	recognized	by	the	Chairperson.	The	Chairperson	shall	
have	the	following	powers:		

a. To	rule	motions	in	or	out	of	order,	including	the	right	to	rule	out	of	order	any	
motions	patently	offered	for	obstructive	or	dilatory	purposes;		

b. To	determine	whether	 a	 speaker	has	gone	beyond	 reasonable	 standards	of	
courtesy	 in	his	 remarks	and	 to	entertain	and	rule	on	objections	 from	other	
members	on	this	ground;		

c. To	entertain	and	answer	questions	of	parliamentary	law	or	procedure;		
d. To	call	a	brief	recess	at	any	time;	and		
e. To	adjourn	in	an	emergency.		

	
2. The	 Chairperson	 shall	 not	 preside	 at	 Board	 meetings,	 when	 he	 or	 she	 becomes	

actively	 engaged	 in	 debate	 on	 a	 particular	 proposal.	 In	 such	 case,	 he	 or	 she	may	
designate	another	Board	member	to	preside	over	the	debate.	The	Chairperson	shall	
resume	the	duty	to	preside	as	soon	as	action	on	the	matter	is	concluded.		
	

Action	 by	 the	 Board:	 The	 Board	 shall	 proceed	 by	 motion.	 	 Any	 member,	 including	 the	
Chairperson,	may	make	a	motion.		
	

Page 16 of 180



 

Page	12	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

Second	not	Required.		A	motion	need	not	be	seconded.	One	Motion	at	a	Time.	A	member	may	
make	only	one	motion	at	a	time.		
	
Substantive	Motion:	A	substantive	motion	is	one	which	involves	the	substance	of	proposed	
action	by	the	Board,	as	opposed	to	procedural	motions	which	deal	with	the	manner	in	which	
the	Board	takes	its	action.		A	substantive	motion	is	out	of	order	while	another	substantive	
motion	is	pending.		
	
Adoption	by	Majority	Vote:	 	A	motion	 shall	be	adopted	by	a	majority	of	 the	votes	 cast,	 a	
quorum	being	present,	unless	otherwise	required	by	these	rules	or	the	laws	of	New	Mexico.	
The	Chairperson	shall	vote	on	all	motions,	unless	otherwise	properly	excused	from	voting.		
	
Debate:		The	Chairperson	shall	state	the	motion	and	then	open	the	floor	to	debate	on	it.	The	
order	of	debate	shall	be	as	follows:		
		

1. The	introducer	(the	member	who	makes	the	motion)	is	entitled	to	speak	first;		
2. A	member	who	has	not	spoken	on	the	issue	shall	be	recognized	before	someone	who	

has	already	spoken;		
3. To	the	extent	possible,	the	debate	shall	alternate	between	opponents	and	proponents	

of	the	measure.		
	

Procedural	Motions:		
	
In	addition	to	substantive	proposals,	the	following	procedural	motions	and	no	others	shall	
be	in	order.	Unless	otherwise	noted,	each	motion	is	debatable,	may	be	amended,	and	requires	
a	majority	vote	for	adoption.	In	order	of	priority	(if	applicable),	the	procedural	motions	are	
as	follows:		
	

1. To	 adjourn.	 The	motion	 to	 adjourn	may	 be	made	 only	when	 action	 on	 a	 pending	
matter	concludes;	it	may	not	interrupt	deliberation	of	a	pending	matter.		

2. To	take	a	recess.		
3. Call	 to	 for	 new	 the	 agenda.	 The	 motion	 must	 be	 made	 at	 the	 first	 reasonable	

opportunity	or	it	is	waived.		
4. To	suspend	the	rules.	For	adoption,	the	motion	requires	an	affirmative	vote	of	three	

(3)	members.		
5. To	divide	a	complex	motion	and	consider	it	by	paragraph	or	section.		
6. To	 defer	 consideration.	 The	Board	may	 vote	 to	 defer	 action	 or	 consideration	 of	 a	

pending	matter	indefinitely.	A	substantive	motion	consideration	of	which	has	been	
deferred	 expires	 100	 days	 thereafter	 unless	 a	 motion	 to	 revive	 consideration	 is	
adopted.		

7. Call	of	the	previous	question.	The	motion	is	not	in	order	until	there	has	been	debate	
and	every	member	has	had	an	opportunity	to	speak.		

8. To	postpone	to	a	certain	time	or	day.		

Page 17 of 180



 

Page	13	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

9. To	 refer	 to	 a	 committee.	One	hundred	days	 after	 a	motion	has	been	 referred	 to	 a	
committee,	 the	 introducer	may	compel	consideration	of	 the	measure	by	 the	entire	
Board,	 regardless	 of	 whether	 the	 committee	 has	 reported	 the	matter	 back	 to	 the	
Board.		

10. To	amend.	An	amendment	to	a	motion	must	be	pertinent	to	the	subject	matter	of	the	
motion,	but	it	may	achieve	the	opposite	of	the	motion's	intent.	The	motion	may	be	
amended,	and	an	amendment	may	be	amended,	but	no	further	amendments	may	be	
made.		

11. To	revive	consideration.	The	motion	is	in	order	anytime	for	100	days	after	a	vote	to	
defer	 consideration.	A	 substantive	motion	whose	 consideration	has	been	deferred	
expires	100	days	thereafter	unless	a	motion	to	revive	consideration	is	adopted.		
	

Cross	Reference:		
	

1. To	reconsider.	The	motion	must	be	made	by	a	member	who	voted	with	the	prevailing	
side.	It	must	be	made	at	the	same	meeting	as	the	vote	was	taken.	It	cannot	interrupt	
deliberation	 on	 a	 pending	 matter	 but	 is	 in	 order	 at	 any	 time	 before	 actual	
adjournment.		

2. To	rescind	or	repeal.		
3. To	ratify.		
4. To	 prevent	 reconsideration	 for	 six	 months.	 The	 motion	 is	 in	 order	 immediately	

following	the	defeat	of	a	substantive	motion	and	at	no	other	time.	For	adoption,	the	
motion	must	 receive	 an	 affirmative	 vote	 of	 three	 (3)	members.	 It	 is	 valid	 for	 six	
months	or	until	a	new	Board	member	is	appointed,	whichever	occurs	first.		

5. Renewal	of	Motion.	A	motion	 that	 is	defeated	may	be	 renewed	at	 any	 subsequent	
meeting	unless	a	motion	to	prevent	reconsideration	has	been	adopted.		

6. Withdrawal	of	Motion.	A	motion	may	be	withdrawn	by	 the	 introducer	at	any	 time	
before	a	vote.		

7. Duty	 to	 Vote.	 Every	member	must	 vote	 unless	 excused	 by	 a	majority	 vote	 of	 the	
remaining	members.	A	member	who	wishes	to	be	excused	from	voting	shall	so	inform	
the	Chairperson,	who	shall	take	a	vote	of	the	remaining	members	present.	No	member	
shall	be	excused	from	voting	except	on	matters	involving	his	own	financial	interest	or	
official	conduct.	 In	all	other	cases,	a	 failure	to	vote	by	a	member	who	is	physically	
present	or	has	withdrawn	without	being	excused	by	a	majority	vote	of	the	remaining	
members	present	shall	be	recorded	as	an	affirmative	vote.		
	

Public	Hearings:		
	
Public	hearings	required	by	law	or	deemed	advisable	by	the	Board	shall	be	organized	by	a	
special	order,	which	is	adopted	by	a	majority	vote,	that	sets	forth	the	subject,	date,	place	and	
time	of	the	hearing	as	well	as	any	rules	regarding	the	length	of	time	of	each	speaker,	etc.	At	
the	appointed	time,	the	Chairperson	or	his/her	designee	shall	call	the	hearing	to	order	and	
then	preside	over	 it,	unless	a	hearing	officer	 is	chosen	to	preside.	When	the	allotted	time	

Page 18 of 180



 

Page	14	of	14	 	 Board	of	Regents	Policies	and	Procedures	

expires	or	when	no	one	wishes	to	speak	who	has	not	already	done	so,	the	Chairperson	or	his	
designee	shall	declare	the	hearing	ended.		
	
	
	
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
	
Responsible	Division/Unit:		Office	of	the	President/Board	of	Regents	
	
History:	 Updated	 1/13/2021;	Approved	 by	Board	 of	 Regents	 February,	 2009.	 	 Replaced	
policy	of	July	20,	1991;	Amended	and	Approved	by	Board	of	Regents	10/24/2024. 

Page 19 of 180



EXHIBIT A
Page 20 of 180



Page 21 of 180



Page 22 of 180



Page 23 of 180



Page 24 of 180



Page 25 of 180



Page 26 of 180



Page 27 of 180



Page 28 of 180



Page 29 of 180



	 	
	

	

	
	
	
	

MEMORANDUM	
	
	
To:	 	 Board	of	Regents,	
	 	 	 Northern	New	Mexico	College	
	
From:	 	 Hector	Balderas,	JD,	CFE	
	 	 	 President	
	
Date:	 	 October	23,	2024	
	
Re:	 	 	 Board	of	Regents	Meeting	Minutes	
		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	
Issue	
	
Northern	New	Mexico	College	(NNMC)	provides,	on	a	monthly	basis,	Board	of	Regents	
Minutes	from	the	previous	month	for	approval.	
	
Recommendation	
	
Staff	recommends	that	the	Board	of	Regents	approve	the	attached	Board	of	Regents	
Minutes	for	September	27,	2024	as	submitted	or	if	applicable,	as	amended.			
	

Page 30 of 180



	 	
	

	

BOARD OF REGENTS MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 27, 2024 

 
A Regular Meeting of the Board of Regents of northern New Mexico College was held on 
Friday, September 27, 2024, In Person and Via Zoom in Cutting Hall, Northern New Mexico 
College, El Rito Campus.  Regents Present in person and Viz Zoom: Michael A. Martin, 
Regent Casandra Batista Dauz, Regent Ruben Archuleta and Regent Erica Velarde.  Regent 
Swentzell was not in attendance. 
 
Northern New Mexico College Staff Present: President Hector Balderas, JD, CFE, Larry 
Guerrero, EdD, Interim Provost & Vice President for Academic Affairs, Theresa Storey, 
Chief Financial Officer/Compliance Officer, Matthew Baca, General Counsel, Scott Stokes, 
Chief Information Officer, Frank Loera, Director of Career Technical Education, Farjahan 
Shawon, Director Center for Teaching and Learning, Evette Abeyta, Budget Director, 
Martin Shupla, Director of Library, Joe Padilla, Technical Trades, Juan Montoya, Director 
of Facilities, Carmella Sanchez, Director of Institutional Research, Sara McCormick, Career 
Services Specialist, Rishi Poudal, Institutional Research Assistant, Sally Martinez, 
Executive Assistant to the Provost & Vice President for Academic Affairs, Maria Cedillo, 
Senior Project Manager/Database Admin., Vince Lithgow, Accountant IV, Janice Baca, 
Registrar, Arin McKenna, Staff Writer/Reporter, Deborah Trujillo, IT, Sandy Krolick, 
Creative Director, Communications & Marketing, Ashley Duemmler, STEM Transfer 
Internship Coordinator and Amy Peña, Executive Office Director. 
 
Faculty Present: Scott Braley, Faculty Senate President 
 
Others Present: John Ussery, Jasie Green, Student Senate President, Tim Crone, Matthew 
Suarez and members of the IBEW 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Board President Martin called the meeting to order at 9:08AM 
 
II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Board President Martin entertained a motion to approve the agenda. 
 
Regent Velarde moved to approve the agenda.  Second – Regent Batista Dauz.  A roll 
call vote was taken.  Board President Martin – yes, Regent Velarde – yes, Regent 
Archuleta – yes, Regent Batista Dauz – yes.   

 

Page 31 of 180



2	

	

III. PUBLIC INPUT 
 

None. 
 

IV. COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD 
 

A. Board of Regents Subcommittee Reports  
 
1. Governance Committee  

Mr. Matt Baca, General Counsel stated the Governance committee met since the last 
meeting to discuss revisions to the Board of Regents Policies and Procedures which is a 
document that includes both the bylaws and the policies and procedures of the Board.  
So, we've gone through the document and made a round of proposed changes that you 
see in the packet.  The goal is to put those changes in front of the Board for food for 
thought.     Any conversation that you may want to discuss today, and then any discussion 
around other things that you may like to see go into there, the plan being ultimately for 
the Governance Committee to review the policy one more time after that, and then bring 
it to the Board at a future meeting, to ratify the changes.  A lot of the proposed changes 
are sort of formatting, some of it is stuff like swapping out what used to be the mission 
and vision for the mission and vision that has been adopted by the Board in the last year.  
The updated one.  Some of it is very wonky stuff like adjusting citation. You'll have to 
indulge Mr. Baca there, and then a lot of it is adding substance to things that you already 
do, a good example of, that is to approve the Constitution.  Other governing bodies of 
the college, which you, that is, the student Senate and the Faculty Senate and also calling 
out things like you'll hear from advisors such as the Faculty Senate.  Again, things that 
you already do. But it felt like it was good to establish them in policies and procedures, 
so that, you know either an accrediting agency or somebody outside, looking again at the 
documents and see that that is a document.  Perhaps the biggest substantive 
recommendation at this point is also to add, in a code of conduct and conflict of interest. 
That is the biggest provision.  As the Board all knows, they are obligated under State law 
to make an annual financial disclosure that effectively covers that idea which is also called 
out in this document.  But the proposed language is just to add a conflict-of-interest 
policy that basically says, you know you won’t have a personal dealing or some form of 
relationship with the Board that would conflict with your duty.  What we would like to 
do if that is acceptable and is ultimately passed into the updated version of this document 
is then also, create a single, a basic form that each member would fill out every single 
year to go with their financial disclosure to the State and we will have that in the office 
of the President and do that.  Mr. Baca thinks that covers it and as he said you have the 
red line in the board packet.  That sort of covers the broad overview and asked if there is 
anything Board President Martin would like him to elaborate on.   

 

Page 32 of 180



3	

	

Board President Martin stated he did have one question.  It was that the document refers 
to the chairman of the board, and how did, when he was on the board back in 87-92, 
they had a chair.  Now, Regent Velarde brought this up a couple of weeks ago about that 
but there is nothing in the bylaws about that.  Does anybody know what happened?  Mr. 
Baca stated we attempted to look for it.  This document indicates that it was updated 
last in 2021 and prior to that in 2009.  We went through Board minutes going back to 
2009 and there’s no indication of a change in those.  So, it happened at some point.  Mr. 
Baca stated it is matter of the Board’s discretion, whatever they would like to call their 
officers.  Mr. Baca thinks there was some legal concern in the future.  You know it would 
be immaterial whether the officer would call the President or a Chair, Vice-Chair or Vice 
President.  So really, Mr. Baca thinks it would be up to the Board, or what they want to 
call themselves.  What the board wants to call themselves in terms of officer position.   

Board President Martin asked if there were questions from the Board of Regents.  No 
questions from the Regents. 
 

2. Housing Committee  
 
Regent Archuleta stated there is a little bit of progress lately.  The college has remodeled 
three homes in El Rito for faculty housing and three restrooms in El Rito.  There is an 
architect looking at getting prices on remodeling the dorms. We are moving a little bit in 
El Rito and are moving in Espanola. 
 
President Balderas stated he is very excited; we recently presented some architectural 
sketches at our last Board Meeting in El Rito and to the Alumni Association and are now 
in the process of pricing the dormitory reconstruction.  It is a lot of hard work.  We secured 
$1.2M of independent new money outside the fiscal budget.  We are setting pricing for 
the remodel of the dorm.  We also have a commitment from the athletic department that 
many of the students have an interest in taking up some housing in El Rito.   From studying 
the history of trying to secure capital and some of the tension and conflict.  We have none 
of that right now.  The community is providing some input.  As soon as we have 
information on the real costs, he will be able to clarify how many dorms we will be 
completing.  We are still assessing heating and cooling and other issues that could drive 
up the costs.  The other upgrade in the housing committee, we are trying to establish 
contact with the coop.  because the backup generation project and solar project, we want 
to vet whether or not we can use that energy source.  There is a lot of moving pieces but 
the Housing Committee is very active.  The other area that President Balderas would like 
to provide more detail in the future is we are vetting grant writers right now on a potential 
Espanola mixed use development housing project.  As soon as he gets a viable pathway, 
he will come back to the Board.  There is a lot of money right now that is being deployed 
by the State for workforce, entry level workforce housing and he knows we have the 
Carpenters Union present and so there is a lot of good camaraderie and interest in 
following through on Espanola being a great opportunity for workforce development 

Page 33 of 180



4	

	

housing.  As soon as President Balderas has the Grant pathways, he would love to come 
back and present a more detailed plan.  Some of the normal hiccups that he is excited to 
report back that we’re overcoming with shared governance is most recently, the Grant 
writer asked him for the exact address of our available land.  So, we are land wealthy and 
we don’t have the most up to date surveys.  We are updating our appraisals of our 
buildings here; we are updating our space utilization.  But even just a simple governance 
question, like, what are the addresses of our vacant land is not an issue we have 
completely resolved.  And so, we, we feel like as we’re engaging stakeholders.  We are 
not only engaging around the community project and some success.   We’re obviously 
seeing movement.  We’re actually fixing some historical informational and data 
accountability issues like we don’t have accurate addresses for all our available land.  So, 
there is good news and there’s mixed views of the Housing Committee.  President 
Balderas stated he wants to share this group and our stakeholders in the audience.  We 
really are within striking distance to realize either additional housing in El Rito for some 
of our trade, some of our faculty and athletes or at least put our land mass as a viable 
development option and we should all be in the conversation of workforce development 
and Northern is a driver of economic development and so we are going to be putting an 
application for some of that funding, whether we get it or not is another issue, but 
President Balderas thinks we are well positioned and as soon as he has a Grant 
management plan he will come back and present it in more details.  President Balderas 
thanked the Regents.   
 
Regent Velarde stated this week she attended the Governor’s Conference on Economic 
Development and so she has shared a lot of information with the President because there 
is a lot of that availability.  New Mexico Finance Authority has grants and money to be 
able to help with that workforce housing.  A lot of you know, a lot of good partnerships 
and coordination between different State agencies that we could really tap into to look 
at how do we fix our housing problem and also, you know, partner with the community 
and become maybe some sort of central hub for the community.   
 
Regent Martin stated they talked about installing a battery component along with our 
solar array and asked if we are still considering that.  President Balderas stated that is a 
while ago project that the Coop has actually secured funding and we’re just waiting for 
the drawdown.  What we are competing with, from what he understands, we are 
competing with Taos.  President Balderas asked Regent Velarde to jump in.   
 
Regent Velarde stated Kit Carson Electric received a DOE grant which is also for fire 
mitigation, he has chosen three locations, one in Peñasco, one in Taos Ski Valley and one 
in El Rito.  Ours will be the only location with an embedded system.  Our system is the 
only one that will be charged with solar.  The other two will be charged by the grid itself.   
He is also looking at being able to island off our system so if there is a fire, then they need 
to turn the grid off, the whole town of El Rito can island.  How we have been in the past 
the central services for fire fighters, we would continue to have energy there provided by 

Page 34 of 180



5	

	

that islanding.  It is an amazing project and focuses on the communities and gives options 
in the event of a fire.  They can turn the grid off during the high gusts so there is no fire 
and they can turn the grid off.  It is a great grant and we are lucky he has chosen El Rito 
for his site as well. 
 
President Balderas stated what he was referencing is we still need to make sure we can 
provide some of the workforce training students.  Regent Velarde stated he would like to 
work with us on the apprenticeship program.  President Balderas stated he will have an 
update for the Board 
 

3. Audit, Finance, Facilities Committee  
 
They had a great meeting yesterday.  Regent Velarde gave props to Evette for doing an 
amazing job on going through this.  Board President Martin thanked Ms. Abeyta, 
 

4. Academic and Student Affairs Committee  
 
Regent Batista stated they met on Thursday and some of the items will be up for action 
today. 
 

5. HERC Committee  
 
Board President Martin stated Ms. Peña reached out to the HERC and the annual meeting 
will be October 21 and 22nd in Las Cruces.   If any of the Regents would like to attend, 
please reach out to Ms. Peña for travel arrangements.   

 
6. Coffee with Regents  

 
Board President Martin stated Regent Velarde brought this up and asked Regent Velarde 
to elaborate.   
 
Regent Velarde stated this has been on her mind for a while and reignited for the ribbon 
cutting in El Rito and having a lot of people there, being able to sit and talk and hang out 
for a while and not having such a structured meeting and being able to have the one-on-
one conversation to get to know each other.   Really, sometimes as regents we don’t get 
to know our faculty and it would be beneficial to sit and talk.  Board President Martin 
asked how we could proceed and format it.  
 
Regent Velarde stated we could pass that, decide this as a board, maybe not on a board 
meeting day, maybe coffee, maybe lunch so faculty, students and community members 
can attend, community members can attend.  Maybe after the Board meeting.  Board 
President Balderas stated he expressed the opportunity to the some of our great student 
departments and they are interested in talking to the regents, learning from the regents 

Page 35 of 180



6	

	

and what their roll is and we could give the board a couple of ideas.  There is definitely 
student interest from some of our organizations to sit with the Board to pick their brains.  
It would also be informative to share in an informal setting what their role is and what 
they could do.  We could explore and staff it.  We could staff it.  We are looking for 
guidance. 
 
Regent Velarde moved to create a meeting time with regents, getting to know our 
Regents.  Second – Regent Batista Dauz.  A roll call vote was taken. Board President 
Martin – yes, Regent Velarde – yes, Regent Archuleta – yes, Regent Batista Dauz – yes.  
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 
Board President Martin moved to the minutes of August 30, 2024.   
 
Regent Velarde moved to approve the minutes of August 30, 2024.  Second – Regent 
Archuleta.  A roll call vote was taken. Board President Martin – yes, Regent Velarde – 
yes, Regent Archuleta – yes, Regent Batista Dauz – yes.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
VI. PRESIDENT’S REPORT AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

A. Celebrate Northern  
 
President Balderas stated there is a lot to celebrate.  He would like to thank all the 
wonderful faculty, staff and students.  Early on we began a journey with the national labs 
on the mentor protégé program and this was an old federal program to design 
opportunities for small businesses and Latino and Latina executives.  Early in the process, 
some Northern New Mexico College leaders really thought that we, as an organization, 
could qualify as a mento protégé in this pipeline and it took a little bit of creativity to 
design the application where we would have a similar profile to a Native American owned 
business or a tribe but we thought there might be a lot of support in the Federal 
Government’s effort to really provide upward mobility for minority serving institutions to 
we took a chance.  We qualified as a mentor protégé under the Federal Government with 
the labs and went to California to be recognized by President Biden and Federal Officials.  
So still at this point it was a little bit of a long shot but in exchange for us to develop an 
operation of excellence and a partner with the Federal labs.  We had a brainstorming 
session down here earlier last year where we brought together a lot of different 
community leaders we already work with.  What emerged from there was an innovative 
opportunity to say, we think cyber security is not only a need for the labs but it could 
potentially be a social justice issue because there is an inherent bias that minority serving 
communities can’t basically develop path and science and forensic students and 
background and so the community group really said we could build a cyber security 
footprint with Espanola students with Northern students.  President Balderas stated that 

Page 36 of 180



7	

	

Higher Ed does not design and plan these ideas this way traditionally because there is a 
lot of ways to say no, we are not ready, we don’t have the staff, we don’t have the funding 
or facilities but the community felt strongly that this was the culmination of why the labs 
want to partner with minority serving communities is we want to build capacity in an area 
that the none exists.  Secondarily, we then began to meet with our departments here and 
of course they expressed healthy concern like, wait a minute we just can launch into 
space.  Then we let a separate conversation with a multi, President Balderas stated he 
doesn’t know if they are worth a billion yet or multi with a conversation with a company 
called Roblox.   They are one of the national leaders in code development and they are 
interested in building capacity with more than in cyberspace and in technology.  So, these 
were all just kind of very casual conversations.  But President Balderas thinks academic 
leaders really came to the table here at Northern, even though they don’t, they didn’t 
have a lot of support federally or from the State.  Historically, we don’t have a ton of 
money and those same leaders agreed to engage a deeper conversation with Roblox.  
President Balderas thinks we will get Roblox here eventually which would be an amazing 
feat to have one of the leading tech companies to actually come and lead a discussion 
and present to our students, our faculty and our staff.  We already have a commitment 
that they want to come.   Regent Velarde stated her son would be so happy.  This is what 
is exciting about this dialogue and this is really kind of out of the box conversations and 
so than you for confirming.  I didn’t know what Roblox was.  Regent Velarde stated her 
sone builds all the time, he has his own virtual world.  President Balderas stated so we 
will get Roblox here for him.   President Balderas stated he says all this to say that what 
did the, what does the new partnership with the labs look like, we have to capitalize on 
our strong partnerships we have, but we also have to build some new partnerships.  
Having said that, President Balderas is very proud of the academic departments because 
what we asked for in exchange was that they come through with an investment from the 
labs and they have agreed to provide $376,675 to create a pipeline development program 
and President Balderas is sure Dr. Guerrero will have more updates on that and we 
recently were featured in the Albuquerque Journal as potentially an innovator specialized 
cyber security space. President Balderas stated he is excited about this kind of partnership 
because it doesn’t involve state money yet.  We are not waiting for the capital outlay 
appropriation.  This is something where Northern with community leaders and a really 
innovative completely abstract program really jumped on an opportunity and of course 
it’s going to fall at the hands now of our department and our faculty and our academic 
leaders to really step up but President Balderas believes we can land other partners with 
fresh and new money out of the sky. So, this is very exciting and President Balderas was 
very proud that the Albuquerque Business Journal featured Northern as a leader.  This is 
a great celebration and many good things to come from that also.   
 
 
 
 

Page 37 of 180



8	

	

KRQE’s New Mexico Frontiers did a great feature on Steve Cox and his students Anita 
DeAguero and Jafett Garcia, as well as the Española Valley High School MESA program 
students they mentor, for their work on developing a glove to relieve Parkinson’s 
symptoms. It really highlighted the fantastic research our students and faculty are doing 
and the impact on the community.   President Balderas stated he would like to also want 
to thank Arin McKenna for her press release that caught Chad Brummett’s attention at 
KRQE. You can find a link to the story in the board packet. https://www.krqe.com/nm-
frontiers/students-in-new-mexico-develop-innovative-parkinsons-treatment/  
 
Congratulations to Sarah McCormick and the Career Services Department for their 
collaboration with LANL to host the 1st Annual Challenge Tomorrow. The event allowed 
middle and high school students to engage with STEM projects and visit with Northern 
faculty and staff and LANL representatives. Students had a positive experience learning 
about new programs and career pathways for professions in the STEM area.  We fed the 
students, they had t-shirts, fancy water bottles.  This is the way we need to treat our 
students. 
 
The target of our enrollment campaign beginning last January was 1,400 students and 
14,000 credit hours (14&14). As of 2 pm on census day, Sept. 6, we had 1,416 
students.  Once disenrollment took place, we lost 30 students.  Our new census data is 
1,386 students and 12,550 credit hours, an increase of 13% and 8% respectively as 
compared to last fall.  Congratulations to all our departments and this is backing up to 
double digit enrollment growth and continues to draw positive attention to the College. 
 
We had a fantastic Hispanic Heritage Week, starting with a delicious Salsa Making Contest 
judged by Tilly Nichols, Executive Director at the Chamber of Commerce, and Salsa 
dancing with Deollo Johnson. Cafecito, Biscochitos y Poesia featured evocative works by 
poet Olivia Rojo, heartfelt poetry by many students and staff, and guest appearances by 
Taos Poet Laureate Miguel Santistevan, artist, activist and filmmaker Diego Lopez and a 
song by Taos musician Andrea Lucero and her family. Javier Martinez, Speaker of the New 
Mexico House of Representatives, was the keynote speaker for our Community Fiesta, 
which included a low-rider show, local vendors and lively music with DJ Dave. Our thanks 
to the Hispanic Heritage Week Committee for all their hard work putting this together. It 
was a great celebration of our Hispanic heritage.   What the Speaker took away was he 
really was moved by, he said this is what a college campus feels like.  Congratulate all the 
staff, facilities, Board President Martin, thank you everyone. 
 
President Balderas stated he recently traveled to Gunnison, Colorado, with Joe Padilla 
and Judith Pepper to visit Butch Clark, III, who has agreed to support our new Carpentry 
Program currently with a $153,000 donation, which will fund a faculty position for the 
first two years of the program. We wanted to honor Mr. Clark, who has donated a total 
of $308,000 to our Tech Trades programs, so we’ll be renaming the Technical Trades 
Program the “Ralph E. Clark, III, Technical Trades Center for Excellence.” We’re planning 

Page 38 of 180

https://www.krqe.com/nm-frontiers/students-in-new-mexico-develop-innovative-parkinsons-treatment/
https://www.krqe.com/nm-frontiers/students-in-new-mexico-develop-innovative-parkinsons-treatment/


9	

	

a grand opening of the Center for Excellence for summer, 2025. During that visit, we also 
met with Western Colorado University President Brad Baca and his team to discuss a 
collaborative Trades Boot Camp between the two colleges, which will be held in Gunnison 
during spring 2025. Mr. Clark has agreed to fund that as well.   
 
Another major donation came from Ms. Glorianna D. Atencio, President and CEO of the 
Española Education Association. When Ms. Atencio decided it was time to dissolve the 
association, she gifted $106,000 of the balance to the Northern Scholarship Fund. 
 
Century Bank Senior Vice President and Española Market President Thomas Martinez just 
presented a $5,000 check for the Northern Scholarship Fund. Century Bank has donated 
more than $60,000 towards NNMC student scholarships and student success initiatives in 
the past decade.  Thank you, Mr. Martinez, for your support. 
 
Our athletics Department has some great accolades. Our coaches were invited to attend 
the prestigious Latino Association of Basketball Coaches event in September and NBA 
Coach James Borrego invited them to attend the New Orleans Pelicans team's training 
camp in October. One of our student-athletes, Emmanuel Taban, has been invited to 
attend a one-day G League workout with the Valley Sun, the new NBA G League affiliate 
of the Phoenix Suns. 
 
We held a ribbon cutting ceremony to celebrate the completion of a beautiful new gazebo 
at Chacon Park. The project was made possible by the generosity of Rio Arriba County 
Commissioner Moises Morales, Jr., who graciously allocated county funds to purchase the 
gazebo to enhance our community space.  
 
President Balderas stated he would like to congratulate Film & Digital Media Arts students 
Natalia Tealer, Lukas LeDoux and Nicholas Taylor, whose film "Dark Silhouettes” was 
selected for the New Mexico Student Filmmakers Showcase.  
 
President Balderas stated our Adult Education and Continuing Education programs have 
been reaching out to the broader community. They teamed up with Darrin’s Place to bring 
our Wildland Firefighting program to the rehab center’s residents. I want to congratulate 
20 students who have successfully completed the course and obtained their Wildland 
Firefighting certificates. Most of them have already found jobs with local agencies. 
 
Thank you to our Cosmetology and Barbering students for offering $5 haircuts until 
October 3. The rumor is one of our Regents was recently getting a haircut there.  They’re 
making good use of the professional-grade barbering and cosmetology tools we recently 
donated to them to support their training and career goals. 
 
 

Page 39 of 180



10	

	

President Balderas stated our Counseling and Student Support Center hosted a special 
event honoring National Recovery Month yesterday, with live music, poetry, 
refreshments and resources on how to support those in recovery. We’re grateful for the 
work they do to support our students  
 
The NNMC Career Center collaborated with Goodwill Industries New Mexico and New 
Mexico Workforce Connection to sponsor a Fall Career Pop-Up Job Fair Wednesday. We 
appreciate their efforts to provide career opportunities for our students and the 
community.  
 
NNMC has also been hosting some wonderful community events, including the Mesa 
Prieta Petroglyph Project Symposium celebrating their 25th anniversary. We hosted them 
in the CFA, it was a packed house.  President Balderas stated he would also like to 
recognize United Way of Northern New Mexico held their Rio Arriba County Campaign 
Kickoff on campus, which included the Rio Arriba Health Council Food Distribution and 
Nonprofit Resource Fair. And the Tae Kwon Do Institute of Santa Fe presented "Heroes!" 
a free demonstration of the South Korean Martial Art Tae Kwon Do.  Many diverse 
community groups visiting the campus. 
 
We celebrated Constitution Day with a trivia contest and voter registration. Thanks to 
Student Life for organizing that.  
 
We have a wonderful exhibit of photographer John O’Donnell’s work up at the Nick 
Salazar Center for the Arts gallery. CPTSD, A Healing Journey Through the Lens will be up 
through October 11. Thank you Johanna Case Hofmeister for all the work in the gallery.  
We would like to welcome everyone to join events in the gallery. 
 

B. CUP/NMICC Report  
 

President Balderas stated there is nothing to report.  Those committees did not meet at 
this point.  He would like to refresh the Board that we are monitoring the funding formula 
study.  As soon as we have more hard information from HED we will brief the Board of 
Regents.  This is the biggest issue going on this summer.  He thinks it is inherently 
inequitable to fund universities and colleges strictly on enrollment.  He thinks there is 
other infrastructure needs.  He believes we are heading toward some adjustments on the 
funding formula. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40 of 180



11	

	

C. NNMC Foundation  
 
President Balderas presented the following: 
 
1. FY24 Philanthropic Donations July 1, 2023 to June 20, 2024 -$261,118.00 

 
2. FY25 Philanthropic Donations July 2, 2024 to August 23, 2024 - $259,665.00 

 
3. The Espanola Education Association, LLC, a 501c3 nonprofit agency founded by local 

and regional teachers some years ago, donated $106,000 to NNMC Foundation on 
September 11, 2024.   Mrs. Glorianna Estencio, a retired teacher from the Espanola 
School District, and other teachers, have overseen the agency and recently voted to 
dissolve its 501c3 nonprofit status.  The donation is designated for the Northern 
Scholarship Fund to award $1000 scholarships to NNMC students who are graduates 
from Espanola High School.  Mrs. Estencio presented the donation check to President 
Balderas and NNMC student athletes where she was surprised with a BIG Check 
acknowledging the significance of this generous contribution.  

 
D. Introduction of Staff and Faculty  

 
President Balderas stated he would like to welcome three new staff members to our 
Northern Community.  Juan Montoya is our new Director Facilities and Operations. Eric 
Ocasio Torres joins us as an Athletic Trainer and Richard Sedillo is our new Gym Monitor.   
 
VII. FACULTY SENATE PRESIDENT REPORT 
 
Dr. Scott Braley stated he was meeting with a reporter from the New Yorker last Thursday 
and he said it was really vacant in High Tech.  He explained the festival was taking place, 
he took him to the event and he was really impressed with the event.  Faculty Senate is 
at the point of working on the next version of the faculty handbook, last revised in 2021.  
The other is with the last CBA negotiations involved discussions of a Health & Safety 
Committee.   There was a fatality at NMHU and the Senate is buzzing about getting this 
committee going.  They are working on this now.   
 
Board President Martin asked if there were questions from the Board.  No questions from 
the Board of Regents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41 of 180



12	

	

VIII.  STUDENT SENATE PRESIDENT REPORT 
 
Student Senate President Green stated Student Senate helped support GO Bond 3, they 
are creating a video that Student Senate created in 2022.  There is a meeting at 11:00AM 
today in the Student Life Center.  They will meet every other Friday at 11:00AM.  They will 
be interviewing candidates for the Regent Position today and will get those up to 
President Balderas on Monday.   
 
Board President Martin asked how many candidates they had for the Regent.  Ms. Green 
stated there is just one.  Board President Martin thanked Ms. Green. 
 
IX. STAFF REPORTS  
 

A. Provost & Vice President for Academic Affairs 
 
1. Presentation of Tenure Pen  

 
Dr. Guerrero stated it is honor and privilege to present to Dr. Braley his tenure pen.   This 
is a major milestone in a faculty career and asked Mr. Brailey to come up so the Presidents 
award him with the pen. 
 

2. Associates of Applied Science of Technical Trades (Carpentry)  
 
Dr. Guerrero brought forward the Associates of Applied Science of Technology Trades 
(Carpentry Technology).  Back in January Dr. Loera and Joe Padilla have done wonderful 
things they have done in the trades.  We have seen a lot of transitions and growth.  They 
have been able to obtain a large grant and obtain an additional location.  Dr. Guerrero 
would like to recognize them both for the wonderful work they have done.  Technical 
trades are slowly but surely on the rise and we are starting to see a lot of growth in the 
program with the students.  Dr. Guerrero reviewed the documents for the Board of 
Regents (attached). It is a well needed high demand type of degree.  This is a basic 
foundation for a lot of these degrees.   Thank you, Matt Suarez, with the union who have 
been able to work with the college and build a lot of these degree plans and courses that 
fit a lot of needs that were needed.  We are excited for this degree and bring it to the 
Board of Regents for an action item.  
 
Board President Martin asked Mr. Suarez to join the Board and give them a little 
background.  He also stated he would like to thank Mr. Suarez for the opportunity for our 
institution.   
 
 

Page 42 of 180



13	

	

Mr. Suarez thanked the Board for having him and stated it is really an honor.  Mr. Suarez 
stated he is here in New Mexico, the Western State’s Regional Council of Carpenters.  We 
represent members across 12 States, including Mexico, over 90,000 members, 1,600. In 
Mexico alone we have over 130 carpers working at Los Alamos National labs, and actually 
an honor to be here with you all today. This endeavor began out of the previous 
administrations with Dr. Richard Bailey and interim President. It's an honor to be at this 
point, to work with you all, to provide opportunities for the community members in 
Northern New Mexico College and Southern areas in this opportunity to not just work in 
the trade as apprentices to get become true skilled tradesmen and women, but also have 
the opportunity to go up to get degrees associates, even bachelor's degrees in project 
and construction management. Because in the trade we just don't need just workers. We 
need leaders. We need administration. We need managers, and the best place to get in 
is from an aggressive world within trade. So it's really an honor for us to be here today 
and he is  joined by my co-presenter, Juan, one of our current members working at Los 
Alamos National Lab Schools, and it's really an honor for us to be here to present to you 
all today and really work with the college wholeheartedly in the community to promote 
CTE back in area schools, create apprenticeship and create a pipeline for the community 
to apprenticeship organizations like their, other trades programs to promote skilled train 
workforce state apprenticeship programs and really get on the job training with all the 
money coming down for infrastructure from the Federal Government.  It is going to really 
increase opportunities throughout the State of New Mexico and Northern New Mexico.  
It's really exciting to be here and work with you all degree paths to get people to position 
where they're not going to be working in the field with their tools of honor, but have a 
chance to step into management.  And that's what signatory employers like Los Amos 
National Park need not just skilled and trained men and women to build our communities 
in our State, but to actually go on and lead projects. And we carpenters are very confident 
we're off the very 1st one on the trip on the job allows us to leave and we kind of run the 
project in the sense we work wholeheartedly with all our sisters across IBEW 412, the 
other trades to create these strong partnership programs throughout the State.  So, 
thank you for having me.  

Board President Martin asked the Board if they have any questions.  
 
Regent Velarde stated this is great, she appreciates, it is a lost art.   It's not just a needed 
trade skill, but it's an art as well, so it also gives the opportunity for them to become 
entrepreneurs even as well as well, and create their own path in their own businesses. 
My grandfather was a home builder, so I know a lot of that art. It's needed. We need it 
every day, not only up in the hill, but also around us all around. So, thank you guys 
appreciate it. We're super excited to partner with you guys. 
 
Board President Martin entertained a motion to approve the Associates of Applied 
Science of Technical Trades (Carpentry)  
 

Page 43 of 180



14	

	

Regent Velarde moved to approve the Associates of Applied Science of Technical Trades 
(Carpentry).  Second – Regent Velarde.  A roll call vote was taken.  Board President 
Martin – yes, Regent Velarde – yes, Regent Archuleta – yes, Regent Batista Dauz – yes.  
Motion passed unanimously.  
 

B. Vice President for Finance & Administration 
 
1. Report of Actuals  

 
Ms. Storey presented the Report of Actuals to the Board of Regents (attached).   
 
Board President Martin asked if there were any questions and entertained a motion to 
approve the Report of Actuals.   
 
No questions from the Board.  Board President Martin thanked Ms. Storey for the update. 
 

3. Board Resolution Supporting 2024 GO Bond 3  
 
Matt Baca, General Counsel presented the GO Bond to the Board of Regents (attached).  
The ask today is to support our effort to support the bond.  If the bond is passed this year, 
it will be $5M for campus updates and $50,000 for Library Operation. There is always a 
Library Component to the GO Bond.  Thanks to the Faculty Senate and Student Senate for 
passing similar resolutions.  A big shout out to Arin McKenna who is the backbone of our 
larger effort which includes thinks like this, outreach to community partners in school 
districts, radio ads, things like that.  Mr. Baca asked if there were questions.   
 
Board President Martin asked if there entertained a motion to approve the Board 
Resolution Supporting the GO Bond 3.   
 
Regent Velarde moved to approve the Board Resolution supporting the GO Bond.  
Second – Regent Batista Dauz.  A roll call vote was taken.  Board President Martin – yes, 
Regent Velarde – yes, Regent Archuleta – yes, Regent Batista Dauz – yes.  Motion passed 
unanimously.  
 
X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
None. 
 
XI. VOTE TO REOPEN MEETING - Certification that only those matters described in 

the Executive Session Agenda were discussed in the closed session; if necessary, 
final action with regard to certain matters will be taken in Open Session 

 
None 

Page 44 of 180



15	

	

 
XII. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
Board President Martin entertained a motion to adjourn. 
 
Regent Velarde moved to adjourn.  Second – Regent Archuleta.  A roll call vote was 
taken.  Board President Martin – yes, Regent Velarde – yes, Regent Archuleta – yes, 
Regent Batista Dauz – yes.  Motion passed unanimously.  
 
The board adjourned at 10:13AM. 
 
Approved: 
 
 
____________________________     
Michael A. Martin       
Board President 
 
____________________________     
Erica Velarde        
Vice President 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45 of 180



Page 46 of 180



Page 47 of 180



Page 48 of 180



Page 49 of 180



Page 50 of 180



Page 51 of 180



Page 52 of 180



Page 53 of 180



Page 54 of 180



Page 55 of 180



Page 56 of 180



Page 57 of 180



Page 58 of 180



Page 59 of 180



Page 60 of 180



Page 61 of 180



Page 62 of 180



Page 63 of 180



Page 64 of 180



Page 65 of 180



Page 66 of 180



Page 67 of 180



Page 68 of 180



Page 69 of 180



Page 70 of 180



Page 71 of 180



Page 72 of 180



Page 73 of 180



Page 74 of 180



Page 75 of 180



Page 76 of 180



Page 77 of 180



Page 78 of 180



Page 79 of 180



Page 80 of 180



Page 81 of 180



Page 82 of 180



Page 83 of 180



Page 84 of 180



Page 85 of 180



Page 86 of 180



Page 87 of 180



Page 88 of 180



Page 89 of 180



Page 90 of 180



Page 91 of 180



Page 92 of 180



Page 93 of 180



Page 94 of 180



Page 95 of 180



Page 96 of 180



Page 97 of 180



Page 98 of 180



Page 99 of 180



Page 100 of 180



Page 101 of 180



Page 102 of 180



Page 103 of 180



Page 104 of 180



Page 105 of 180



Page 106 of 180



Page 107 of 180



Page 108 of 180



Page 109 of 180



Page 110 of 180



Page 111 of 180



Page 112 of 180



Page 113 of 180



Page 114 of 180



Page 115 of 180



Page 116 of 180



Page 117 of 180



Page 118 of 180



Page 119 of 180



Page 120 of 180



Page 121 of 180



Page 122 of 180



Page 123 of 180



Page 124 of 180



Page 125 of 180



Page 126 of 180



Page 127 of 180



Page 128 of 180



Page 129 of 180



Page 130 of 180



Page 131 of 180



Page 132 of 180



Page 133 of 180



Page 134 of 180



Page 135 of 180



Page 136 of 180



Page 137 of 180



Page 138 of 180



Page 139 of 180



Page 140 of 180



Page 141 of 180



Page 142 of 180



Page 143 of 180



Page 144 of 180



Page 145 of 180



Page 146 of 180



Page 147 of 180



Page 148 of 180



Page 149 of 180



Page 150 of 180



Page 151 of 180



Page 152 of 180



Page 153 of 180



Page 154 of 180



Page 155 of 180



Page 156 of 180



Page 157 of 180



Page 158 of 180



Page 159 of 180



Page 160 of 180



Page 161 of 180



Page 162 of 180



Page 163 of 180



Page 164 of 180



Page 165 of 180



Page 166 of 180



MEMORANDUM

To: Board of Regents,
Northern NewMexico College

From: Matt Baca
General Counsel

Date: October 24, 2024

Re: Approval of Easement Agreement between NNMC and North
Central Regional Transit District for Blue Bus Stop on Española
campus - Action Required

Issue

Northern New Mexico College (NNMC) allows the North Central Regional Transit
District (NCRTD) to operate a bus stop on the Española campus for the “Blue Bus.”
According to NCRTD, it has operated this stop since approximately 2011. The
proposed easement agreement will formalize the legal relationship between the
parties for the operation of the bus stop.

Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Board of Regents approve the attached easement
agreement between NNMC and NCRTD for the operation of the “Blue Bus” stop on
the Española campus.

Page 167 of 180



 

 
1  

EASEMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN  

NORTHERN NEW MEXICO COLLEGE 
AND  

THE NORTH CENTRAL REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, this ______day of 
____________, 2024, that for and in valuable consideration the receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, the grantor, Northern New Mexico College 
hereby GRANTS to the North Central Regional Transit District (a local public 
body and subdivision of the state of New Mexico) an easement for public 
access, ingress and egress and transit related purposes over and to the 
following described real property (the “Property”).  

 
NNMC hereby permits the NCRTD to use the portion of land herein 
described for the purpose and term set forth herein and in accordance with 
the conditions set forth herein.  The Parties agree as follows: 

 
1. The Property: NNMC owns certain real property located at 921 Paseo 

de Oñate, Española, NM in the City of Española, and County of Rio 
Arriba (hereinafter the “Property.”)  
 

2. The Bus Stop: The Parties agree that the NCRTD is hereby permitted 
to use a portion of the Property for purposes of a bus stop and 
associated improvements shown on the attached Exhibit A as Bus Stop  
(hereinafter the “Bus Stop.”) 

 
3. Grant of Easement:  NNMC hereby grants an easement to the 

NCRTD for the construction, maintenance and use of the Bus Stop on 
the Property for public transit purposes along with ingress and egress 
to the Bus Stop (the “Easement”) The Parties agree that the NCRTD 
may record this Easement. 

 
4. Purpose: The Easement for the Bus Stop is granted for the purposes 

of operation of the NCRTD’s regional transit system and to ensure that 
the federally funded costs of building and maintaining the facilities on 
the Bus Stop portion of the Property are fully amortized prior to 
reversion of the Bust Stop to a non-transit use.   

 
5. Term: The term of this Agreement shall be for twenty (20) years. 

Beginning on the date of final execution of this Agreement.  If the 
parties fail to extend this Agreement in writing as provided in this 

Page 168 of 180



 

 
2  

paragraph, NCRTD’s holding over or continued use or occupancy of 
the Bus Stop shall be construed as a month to month use subject to the 
same terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.   

 
6. NCRTD’S Access: NCRTD shall have the right to enter the Property 

and access the Bus Stop in order to operate its transit system between 
the hours of 5 A.M. and 9 P.M.  NNMC may limit access during 
special events but shall give the NCRTD 15 days prior written notice 
before any such limitation on access.   

 
7. Condition of the Bus Stop: NCRTD accepts the Bus Stop, and its 

condition, “as is.” 
 

8. Improvements: The Parties agree that the NCRTD shall be 
responsible for making improvements to the Bus Stop and NNMC 
shall be responsible for improvements to and the maintenance of all 
other portions of the Property.  The type and location of any 
improvements deemed necessary by the Parties shall be agreed to in 
writing by both Parties prior to making any improvements that would 
impact the Parties respective operations on the Property.   
 
All alterations and improvements made to or placed by the NCRTD 
on the Bus Stop which can be removed without undue damage to the 
Property and are, in fact, removed by NCRTD prior to termination of 
this Agreement or any renewal thereof or within 30 days after 
termination of this Agreement, are and shall remain the NCRTD’s 
property except as the parties mutually agree otherwise in writing. 
Alterations and improvements of a permanent nature which cannot be 
removed without undue damage to the Property shall become the 
City’s property except as the parties mutually agree otherwise in 
writing.  

 
9. Condition of Bus Stop Upon Surrender: At the termination of this 

Agreement, NCRTD shall surrender the Bus Stop in the condition in 
which it was found at the inception of this Agreement, excepting:  

 
a. deterioration caused through reasonable use and ordinary wear and 

tear;  
b. alterations, improvements or conditions made as part of this 

Agreement or any amendment hereto; and   
c. any change, damage or destruction not resulting from NCRTD’s 

Page 169 of 180



 

 
3  

willful act. 
 

10. New Mexico Tort Claims Act: As between NNMC and the NCRTD, 
neither party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the 
other party’s acts or omissions in connection with this agreement.  Any 
liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to the 
immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, 
NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1, et seq.  This paragraph is intended only 
to define the liabilities between the Parties and it is not intended to 
modify, in any way, the Parties’ liabilities as governed by the common 
law of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. 
 

11. Maintenance and Security: The Parties agree that NNMC shall be 
responsible for maintaining and securing the Property generally and 
that the NCRTD shall be responsible for maintenance of the Bus Stop.     

 
12. Termination: Each party has the option of terminating this Agreement 

by giving sixty (60) days prior written notice to the other party. By 
such termination neither party may nullify obligations already incurred 
for performance of the Agreement prior to the date of termination of 
this Agreement.   

 
13. Liability for Early Termination.  If NNMC elects to terminate this 

Agreement prior to the full amortization of all federally funded 
improvements or during any extended term of this Agreement NNMC 
agrees to pay any amounts required for the conversion of the transit 
facilities to non-transit use and any relocation costs construction costs 
and replacement costs for a new or relocated bus stop meeting 
Americans with Disabilities Act standards. 
 

14. Succession: Provisions of this Agreement shall apply and extend to all 
successors and assigns of the parties. 
 

15. Amendments in Writing: This Agreement shall not be altered except 
by an instrument in writing executed by the parties. 
 

16. Merger of Prior Agreements: This Agreement includes all of the 
conditions, agreements, and understandings between the Parties 
concerning the subject matter of this Agreement, and all such 
conditions, understandings and agreements have been merged into this 
written Agreement. No prior condition, agreement or understanding, 
verbal or otherwise, of the Parties or their agents shall be valid or 

Page 170 of 180



 

 
4  

enforceable unless embodied in this written Agreement. 
 

17. Governing Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of New Mexico. 
 

18. Notice: All notices relating to this Agreement shall be in writing.  
Notices required under this Agreement shall be made by electronic 
transmission and First Class Mail Return Receipt Requested at the 
following addresses: 

 
a) NCRTD:  Anthony J. Mortillaro,  

Executive Director 
1327 Riverside Drive 
Española, NM 87532 AND 
Legal-Notices@ncrtd.org 

 
b) NNMC:   Northern New Mexico College 

Office of the President 
921 Paseo de Oñate 
Española, NM 87532 

 
The County Recorder is hereby instructed to index this Easement Deed in the Grantor___ / 
Grantee ____ under the names of the respective parties.  
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency. 
 
NNMC: 
 
By:_______________________________________            Date:________________ 
Title:_____________________________________  
 
 
NCRTD: 
 
_____________________     Date: _______________ 
Estevan Sanchez  
General Counsel        

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parties have made and executed the foregoing easement 
agreement as of the date hereinabove written.  
 

Page 171 of 180



 

 
5  

GRANTOR NNMC: 
 
 
Signature: __________________________ 
Print Name: _________________________ 
Capacity: ___________________________  

GRANTEE NCRTD: 
 
 
Signature: __________________________ 
Print Name: _________________________ 
Capacity: ___________________________  
 

  
 
STATE OF NEW MEXICO ) 
    ss: 
COUNTY OF RIO ARRIBA ) 
 
 On the _________day of ________________, 2024, before, a notary, personally 
appeared ___________________________________known to me (or satisfactorily proven) to 
be the person (s) whose name is/are subscribed to the within instrument, and acknowledged 
that she/he executed the same as his/her voluntary act and deed. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid on the day and year above written.  
 
__________________________________  
Signature 
 
__________________________________  
Print Name/Title 
My commission expires: ______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172 of 180



 

 
6  

STATE OF NEW MEXICO ) 
    ss: 
COUNTY OF RIO ARRIBA ) 
 
 On the _________day of ________________, 2024, before, a notary, personally 
appeared ___________________________________known to me (or satisfactorily proven) to 
be the person (s) whose name is/are subscribed to the within instrument, and acknowledged 
that she/he executed the same as his/her voluntary act and deed. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid on the day and year above written.  
 
__________________________________  
Signature 
 
__________________________________  
Print Name/Title 
My commission expires: ______________ 
 
 
 

Page 173 of 180



	 	

									

	
	
	
	

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Board of Regents 
  Northern New Mexico College 
 
FROM: Theresa Storey, Chief Financial Officer 
 
THRU: Hector Balderas, President 

 
DATE: October 24, 2024 
 
RE:  Fiscal Watch Report 
 
Issue:  
On a quarterly basis, Northern New Mexico College (NNMC) provides an institutional 
report for the Board of Regents (BOR) for review and approval. 
 
Overview: 
Quarterly, the NNMC Chief Financial Officer and the Business Office staff prepare a Fiscal 
Watch Report for review and discussion at the Audit, Finance, and Facilities Committee 
(AF&F) meeting. The financial report provides an overview of the institution’s financial 
condition for all unrestricted and restricted funds and grants throughout the College.  
 
The Fiscal Watch Reports are presented in the format prescribed by the New Mexico Higher 
Education Department (NMHED).  Additional information is included to provide a budget 
status update for the Institution.  In addition, the BOR also is provided information for the 
following financial areas summarized in the monthly institution-wide Fiscal Watch Report: 
 
Unrestricted Funds 
Auxiliary Programs 
Institutional Grants 
Student Aid 
Plant Funds 
Capital Outlay Projects 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the BOR approves the Fiscal Watch Report for the period ending 
September 30, 2024.	

Page 174 of 180



Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 17,860,075                 
Short-Term Investments -                             
AR - Student 567,928                      
AR - Other than student 5,637,653                   
Inventories 17,248                        
Prepaid Expenses 20,771                        
Loans Receivable, net 801,853                      

Total Current Assets 24,905,527                 

Non-Current Assets
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents -                             
Restricted Short Term Investments -                             
Investments Held by Others -                             
Other Long-Term Investments -                             
Prepaid Expenses -                             
Capital Assets, net 36,645,605                 

Total Non-Current Assets 36,645,605                 

Total Assets 61,551,132                 

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension & OPEB Related (6/30/23 balances) 8,806,927                   

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 8,806,927                   

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 1,203,555                   
Other Accrued Liabilities 487,738                      
Deferred Income 7,449,080                   
LT Liabilities - Current Portion -                             

Total Current Liabilities 9,140,373                   

Non-Current Liabilities
Accrued Interest Payable -                             
Accrued Benefit Reserves -                             
Other LT Liabilities 97,208                        
Net Pension Liability 23,727,330                 
Net OPEB Liability 4,498,696                   

Total Non-Current Liabilities 28,323,234                 

Total Liabilities 37,463,607                 

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension, OPEB and Leases Related (6/30/23 balances) 19,754,648                 

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 19,754,648                 

Net Position
Invested in Capital Assets, net of Related Debt 36,645,605                 
Restricted for:

Nonexpendable:
   Endowments -                             
Expendable:
   General Activities (467,591)                    
   Federal Student Loans -                             
   Term Endowments -                             
   Capital Projects (136,816)                    
   Debt Service -                             
   Related Entity Activities 391,189                      

Unrestricted
Unrestricted without NFP 12,535,397                 
Net Fiduciary Position -                             
Total Unrestricted (includes 6/30/23 NFP) 12,535,397                 

Total Net Position 48,967,784                 

Statement of Net Position
(Unaudited and Unadjusted)

September 30, 2024

Northern New Mexico College

Page 175 of 180



FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025
Original Adjusted Actuals as of Percentage

Operating Funds Budget Budget September 30, 2024 Earned/Spent

REVENUES
     Tuition & Misc Fees 5,593,334$                                  5,593,334$                                  2,788,983$                                      49.9%
     Federal Appropriations -                                               -                                                   -                                       
     State Appropriations 16,026,409                                  16,026,409                                  3,909,100                                        24.4%
     Local Appropriations 2,800,000                                    2,800,000                                    118,965                                           4.2%
     Gifts, Grants & Contracts 15,933,475                                  15,933,475                                  4,281,837                                        26.9%
     Endowment/Land & Perm Inc 347,461                                       347,461                                       55,369                                             15.9%
     Sales & Services 344,666                                       344,666                                       94,164                                             27.3%
     Other 1,825,713                                    1,825,713                                    30,424                                             1.7%
Total Revenue 42,871,058                                  42,871,058                                  11,278,842                                      26.3%

BEGINNING BALANCE 14,670,627                                  14,670,627                                  14,670,627                                      100.00%

TOTAL AVAILABLE 57,541,685                                  57,541,685                                  25,949,469                                      45.1%

EXPENDITURES
     Instruction & General 33,264,742                                  33,264,742                                  6,433,172                                        19.3%
     Student Social & Cultural 121,788                                       121,788                                       27,325                                             22.4%
     Research 492,857                                       492,857                                       67,649                                             13.7%
     Public Service 476,269                                       476,269                                       84,816                                             17.8%
     Internal Services 796,365                                       796,365                                       180,376                                           22.6%
     Student Aid 4,678,106                                    4,678,106                                    3,099,409                                        66.3%
     Auxiliary Enterprises 436,698                                       436,698                                       2,233                                               0.5%
     Intercollegiate Athletics 945,916                                       945,916                                       289,838                                           30.6%
     Independent Operations (NMDA) -                                               -                                               -                                       
Total Expenditures 41,212,742                                  41,212,742                                  10,184,818                                      24.7%

NET TRANSFERS OUT / (IN) 257,745                                       257,745                                       102,602                                           39.8%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS 41,470,487                                  41,470,487                                  10,287,420                                      24.8%

ENDING FUND BALANCE 16,071,198$                                16,071,198$                                15,662,049$                                    

FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025
Original Adjusted Actuals as of Percentage

Plant Funds Budget Budget September 30, 2024 Earned/Spent
REVENUES AND TRANSFERS
     Required Student Fees  
     Bond Proceeds  
     Gifts, Grants and Contracts 30,189                                         30,189                                         -                                                       0.0%
     Interest Income  
     State Appropriation 15,863,000$                                15,863,000$                                318,177$                                         2.0%
     Debt Service Transfers  
     Other 982,670                                       982,670                                       -                                                       0.0%
Total Revenues and Transfers 16,875,859                                  16,875,859                                  318,177                                           1.9%

BEGINNING BALANCE -                                               -                                               -                                                    

TOTAL AVAILABLE 16,875,859                                  16,875,859                                  318,177                                           1.9%

EXPENDITURES
     Capital Projects 15,893,189                                  15,893,189$                                358,071                                           2.3%
     Building Renewal 982,670                                       982,670                                       96,922                                             9.9%
     Internal Service Renewal/Replacement  
     Auxiliary Renewal/Replacement  
     Debt Retirement  
Total Expenditures 16,875,859                                  16,875,859                                  454,993                                           2.7%

NET TRANSFERS OUT / (IN) (257,745)                                      (257,745)                                      (102,602)                                          39.8%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS 16,618,114                                  16,618,114                                  352,391                                           2.1%

ENDING FUND BALANCE 257,745$                                     257,745$                                     (34,215)$                                          -13.3%

Northern New Mexico College
Summary of Operating and Plant Funds

(Unadjusted and Unaudited)
Fiscal Year 2024

Page 176 of 180



FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025
Original Adjusted Actuals as of Percentage

Operating Funds Budget Budget September 30, 2024 Earned/Spent

REVENUES
     Tuition & Misc Fees 98,000$                                      98,000$                                      51,851                                             52.9%
     Local Appropriations 2,800,000                                   2,800,000                                   118,965                                          4.2%
     Gifts, Grants & Contracts 1,443,481                                   1,443,481                                   -                                                   0.0%
     Other 156,086                                      156,086                                      74,450                                             47.7%
Total Revenue 4,497,567                                   4,497,567                                   245,266                                          5.5%

BEGINNING BALANCE -                                              -                                              -                                                   0.00%

TOTAL AVAILABLE 4,497,567                                   4,497,567                                   245,266                                          5.5%

EXPENDITURES
     Instruction & General 3,476,271                                   3,476,271                                   629,066                                          18.1%
     Student Social & Cultural -                                              -                                              -                                                   
     Research -                                              -                                              -                                                   
     Public Service -                                              -                                              -                                                   
     Internal Services 136,086                                      136,086                                      7,389                                               5.4%
     Student Aid -                                              -                                              -                                                   
     Auxiliary Enterprises -                                              -                                              -                                                   
     Intercollegiate Athletics -                                              -                                              -                                                   
     Independent Operations (NMDA) -                                              -                                              -                                       
Total Expenditures 3,612,357                                   3,612,357                                   636,455                                          17.6%

NET TRANSFERS OUT / (IN) -                                              -                                              -                                                    

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS 3,612,357                                   3,612,357                                   636,455                                          17.6%

ENDING FUND BALANCE 885,210$                                    885,210$                                    (391,189)$                                       

FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025
Original Adjusted Actuals as of Percentage

Plant Funds Budget Budget September 30, 2024 Earned/Spent
REVENUES AND TRANSFERS
     Required Student Fees  
     Bond Proceeds  
     Gifts, Grants and Contracts  
     Interest Income  
     State Appropriation 1,485,000$                                 1,485,000$                                 -$                                                     0.0%
     Debt Service Transfers  
     Other 369,961                                      369,961                                      -                                                       0.0%
Total Revenues and Transfers 1,854,961                                   1,854,961                                   -                                                   0.0%

EXPENDITURES
     Capital Projects 1,485,000                                   1,485,000$                                 19,710                                             1.3%
     Building Renewal 369,961                                      369,961                                      46,508                                             12.6%
     Internal Service Renewal/Replacement  
     Auxiliary Renewal/Replacement  
     Debt Retirement  
Total Expenditures 1,854,961                                   1,854,961                                   66,218                                             3.6%

NET TRANSFERS OUT / (IN) -                                                   -                                              -                                                        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS 1,854,961                                   1,854,961                                   66,218                                             3.6%

ENDING FUND BALANCE -$                                                -$                                                (66,218)$                                          

Northern New Mexico College
Summary of Operating and Plant Funds (Branch)

(Unadjusted and Unaudited)
Fiscal Year 2024

Page 177 of 180



FY 2025 FY 2024 Percentage
Actuals as of Actuals as of Increase

Operating Funds September 30, 2024 September 30, 2023 (Decrease)
REVENUES
     Tuition & Misc Fees 2,788,983$                                2,384,638$                                    17.0%
     Federal Appropriations -                                                 -                                                      
     State Appropriations 3,909,100                                  3,954,599                                      -1.2%
     Local Appropriations 118,965                                     127,145                                         -6.4%
     Gifts, Grants & Contracts 4,281,837                                  3,531,981                                      21.2%
     Endowment/Land & Perm Inc 55,369                                       82,032                                           -32.5%
     Sales & Services 94,164                                       125,098                                         -24.7%
     Other 30,424                                       122,954                                         -75.3%
Total Revenue 11,278,842                                10,328,447                                    9.2%

BEGINNING BALANCE 14,670,627                                11,532,638                                    27.2%

TOTAL AVAILABLE 25,949,469                                21,861,085                                    18.7%

EXPENDITURES
     Instruction & General 6,433,172                                  4,996,818                                      28.7%
     Student Social & Cultural 27,325                                       8,852                                             208.7%
     Research 67,649                                       62,952                                           7.5%
     Public Service 84,816                                       183,283                                         -53.7%
     Internal Services 180,376                                     310,739                                         -42.0%
     Student Aid 3,099,409                                  3,439,068                                      -9.9%
     Auxiliary Enterprises 2,233                                         61,735                                           -96.4%
     Intercollegiate Athletics 289,838                                     130,341                                         122.4%
     Independent Operations (NMDA) -                                             -                                                  
Total Expenditures 10,184,818                                9,193,788                                      10.8%

NET TRANSFERS OUT / (IN) 102,602                                     45,249                                           126.7%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS 10,287,420                                9,239,037                                      11.3%

ENDING FUND BALANCE 15,662,049$                              12,622,049$                                  24.1%

FY 2025 FY 2024 Percentage
Actuals as of Actuals as of Increase

Plant Funds September 30, 2024 September 30, 2023 (Decrease)
REVENUES AND TRANSFERS
     Required Student Fees -$                                           -$                                               0.0%
     Bond Proceeds -                                             -                                                 0.0%
     Gifts, Grants and Contracts -                                             -                                                 0.0%
     Interest Income -                                             -                                                 0.0%
     State Appropriation 318,177                                     4,941                                             6339.5%
     Debt Service Transfers -                                             -                                                 0.0%
     Other -                                             -                                                 0.0%
Total Revenues and Transfers 318,177                                     4,941                                             6339.5%

BEGINNING BALANCE -                                             -                                                  

TOTAL AVAILABLE 318,177                                     4,941                                             6339.5%

EXPENDITURES
     Capital Projects 358,071                                     -                                                  
     Building Renewal 96,922                                       65,431                                           48.1%
     Internal Service Renewal/Replacement -                                             -                                                 0.0%
     Auxiliary Renewal/Replacement -                                             -                                                 0.0%
     Debt Retirement -                                             -                                                 0.0%
Total Expenditures 454,993                                     65,431                                           595.4%

NET TRANSFERS OUT / (IN) (102,602)                                    (45,249)                                          126.7%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES AND TRANSFERS 352,391                                     20,182                                           1646.1%

ENDING FUND BALANCE (34,215)$                                    (15,241)$                                        124.5%

Some revenues are reported on a seasonal basis or by semester and therefore may affect the Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance

Northern New Mexico College
Comparison of Operating and Plant Funds

(Unadjusted and Unaudited)
Fiscal Year's 2025 and 2024

Page 178 of 180



Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from student tuition and fees 2,788,983$                 
Receipts from grants and contracts 4,281,837                   
Other receipts -                              
Payments to or on behalf of employees (4,456,727)                  
Payment to suppliers for goods and services (1,865,162)                  
Receipts from Sales and Services 94,164                        
Payments for scholarships (1,630,690)                  
Other Operating Revenue 30,424                        

Net cash (used) by operating activities (757,170)                     

Cash Flows from Non-Captial Financing Activities
State Appropriations 4,227,277                   
Mill Levy Distributions 118,965                      
Gifts for other than Capital Purposes -                              
Private Gifts for Endowment -                              
Other Non-operating Expense -                              

Net Cash provided (used) for non-capital financing activities 4,346,242                   

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Proceeds from Capital Debt -                              
Capital Gifts, Grants and contracts -                              
Purchase/Construction/Renovation of Capital Assets (454,993)                     
Principal Received/Paid on Capital Debt and Leases -                              
Interest and Fees Paid on Capital Debt and Leases -                              
Building Fees Received from Students -                              

Net Cash provided (used) for capital financing activities (454,993)                     

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Investment Earnings 55,369                        

Net Cash provided by Investing Activities 55,369                        

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,189,448                   
Cash and Cash Equivalents- beginning of year 14,670,627                 

Cash and Cash Equivalents- end of reporting period 17,860,075$               

Statement of Cash Flows
(Unaudited and Unadjusted)

September 30, 2024

Northern New Mexico College

Page 179 of 180



 

 

 
 
 

FISCAL YEAR 2025 (FY25) – BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS 
 
 

 

Page 180 of 180


	JANUARY COVER
	10-24-27 - Final Agenda
	Memo to BoR - Updated BoR Policies & Procedures (2)
	Minutes Memo
	9-27-2024 BOR Minutes
	BOR Memo - Faculty Handbook Approval
	Easement
	10-24-2024 NNMC BOR Fiscal Watch Report Memo
	September 2024 Fiscal Watch Report Common Book (1)
	FY25 BARS_informational



